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CUMMINS ENGINE COMPANY, INC.
500 JACKSON STREET, BOX 3005, COLUMBUS, INDIANA 47202-3005

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

To the Shareholders of
CUMMINS ENGINE COMPANY, INC.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of Cummins Engine Company,
Inc. will be held at the Columbus East High School Auditorium, 230 South Marr Road, Columbus,
Indiana, on Tuesday, April 1, 1997, at 10:30 a.m., local time, for the following purposes:

1. to elect twelve directors of the Company for the ensuing year;

2. to ratify the appointment of Arthur Andersen LLP as auditors for the year 1997;

3. to transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting or any
adjournment thereof.

Only shareholders of Common Stock of the Company of record at the close of business on
February 14, 1997, are entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.

Shareholders of Common Stock who do not expect to be present in person at the meeting are
urged to complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy and return it promptly to the undersigned in the
envelope provided.

The proxy may be revoked by the shareholder giving it at any time before the voting. Any
shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting who attend the meeting will be entitled to cast their votes
in person.

MARK R. GERSTLE,
Secretary

March 1, 1997



CUMMINS ENGINE COMPANY, INC.
500 JACKSON STREET, BOX 3005, COLUMBUS, INDIANA 47202-3005

PROXY STATEMENT

This proxy statement is being furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of
Directors of Cummins Engine Company, Inc. (the "Company" or "Cummins") of proxies to be
voted at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Tuesday, April 1, 1997, and at any
adjournment thereof (the "Annual Meeting"). This proxy statement, together with the enclosed
proxy, is first being mailed to the shareholders of the Company on or about March 1,1997.

Holders of the Company's Common Stock of record at the close of business on February 14,
1997 are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. On that date there were issued and outstanding
41,907,422 shares of Common Stock, each of which is entitled to one vote.

Each share of Common Stock represented by a properly executed proxy will be voted at the
Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions indicated on that proxy, unless such proxy has
been previously revoked. If no instructions are indicated on a signed proxy, the shares represented
by such proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board of Directors.

A shareholder may revoke the proxy at any time before it is voted by delivering to the Secretary
of the Company written notice of such revocation. This notice must include the number of shares for
which the proxy had been given and the name of the shareholder of such shares as it appears on the
stock certificate(s) evidencing ownership of such shares. In addition, any shareholder who has
executed a proxy but is present at the Annual Meeting will be entitled to cast its vote in person
instead of by proxy, thereby cancelling the previously executed proxy.



PRINCIPAL SECURITY OWNERSHIP

The following table identifies those shareholders known to the Company to be the beneficial
owners of more than five percent of the Common Stock of the Company and shows as to each such
shareholder as of February 14, 1997 (i) the number of shares beneficially owned by such
shareholder(s) and the nature of such beneficial ownership and (ii) the percentage of the entire class
of Common Stock so beneficially owned:

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Percent
Ownership of Class

FMR Corporation 5,959,786(1) 14.22%
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, MA 02109

Miller Anderson & Sherrerd, LLP 5,751,687(2) 13.72%
One Tower Bridge
West Conshohocken, PA 19428

Cummins Engine Company, Inc. 3,750,000 8.95%
Employee Benefits Trust
c/o The Vanguard Fiduciary

Trust Company
Post Office Box 2900
Valley Forge, PA 19482

The Capital Group Companies, Inc. 2,500,260(3) 5.97%
333 South Hope Street
Los Angeles, CA 90071

Cummins Engine Company, Inc. 2,222,080 5.30%
and Affiliates Employee
Stock Ownership Trust
c/o The Vanguard Fiduciary

Trust Company
Post Office Box 2900
Valley Forge, PA 19482

(1) The source of this information is a Schedule 13G dated February 14, 1997 disclosing beneficial
ownership by FMR. FMR states in its 13G that it has sole investment power for all of the shares,
sole voting power for 1 17,776 shares and no shared investment or voting power.

(2) The source of this information is a Schedule 13G dated February 14, 1997 disclosing beneficial
ownership by MAS, and information known to the Company regarding a purchase transaction
that occurred on January 8, 1997. MAS states in its 13G that it has shared investment power for
3,851,687 shares, shared voting power for 3,255,287 shares and no sole voting or investment
power.

(3) The source of this information is a Schedule 13G dated February 25, 1997 disclosing beneficial
ownership by certain operating subsidiaries of the Capital Group Companies, Inc. These entities
were reported to possess, in the aggregate, sole voting power for 260 shares, sole investment
power for all of the shares and no shared voting or investment power.
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(Item 1)

It is intended that votes will be cast pursuant to the accompanying proxy for the election of the
twelve nominees listed below, all of whom are presently directors of the Company. All directors will
serve for the ensuing year and until their respective successors are elected and qualified. A
shareholder may withhold authority from such shareholder's proxy to vote for the election of any or
all of the nominees listed below.

The Board of Directors has no reason to believe that any of the nominees will be unable to serve
if elected. If, for any reason, one or more of such persons should be unable to serve, it is intended
that votes will be cast for a substitute nominee or nominees designated by the Board of Directors
unless the Board of Directors decides to reduce the number of directors.

The names of the nominees for directors, together with certain information regarding them, are
set forth below. Biographical sketches of these nominees, which include their business experience
during the past five years and directorships of other corporations, are provided on pages 21 through
26 of this proxy statement.

Amount and
First Year Nature of Beneficial Percent
Elected a Ownership as of of

Name and Occupation Age Director(1) February 28,1997(2) Class

Harold Brown 69 1985 946(3) *
Counselor, Center for Strategic & International Studies;

Partner, Warburg, Pincus & Co., venture banking firm
Robert J. Darnall. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 1989 1,562 *

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Inland
Steel Industries, Inc., steel manufacturing and materials
distribution

Walter Y. Elisha 64 1991 1,562 *
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Springs Industries,

Inc., manufacturer of home furnishings, industrial and
specialty fabrics

Hanna H. Gray 66 1977 746 *
President Emeritus and Professor of History, University of

Chicago
James A. Henderson ,,...................... 62 1974 172,768(4) *

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
Cummins

William I. Miller........................... 40 1989 37,324(5) *
Chairman, Irwin Financial Corporation, financial services
company

Donald S. Perkins .......................... 69 1974 4,562 *
Retired Chairman, Jewel Companies, Inc., diversified

retailing
William D. Ruckelshaus ..................... 64 1974 1,562 *

Principal, Madrona Investment Group, L.L.C.
Henry B. Schacht.......................... 62 1969 118,086(6) *

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Lucent
Technologies, Inc., communication industry products
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Amount and
First Year Nature of Beneficial Percent
Elected a Ownership as of of

Name and Occupation Age Director(1) February 28, 1997(2) Class

Theodore M. Solso ......................... 49 1994 91,233(7) *
President and Chief Operating Officer of Cummins

Franklin A. Thomas ....... ................ 62 1973 1,253 *
Consultant, TFF Study Group

J. Lawrence Wilson ......................... 61 1990 2,554 *
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Rohm and Haas

Company, chemicals and plastics manufacturing

*Less than 1%.
( 1) Except for Mr. Ruckelshaus, each Director has served continuously since the year indicated. Mr.

Ruckelshaus served on the Board of Directors from 1974 until 1983 when he returned to Federal
Government service and was reelected to the Board of Directors in 1985.

(2) Except as indicated, the voting and investment powers of the shares listed are held solely by the
reported owner.

(3) These shares are held by a trust, of which Dr. Brown is a co-trustee, settlor and beneficiary.
(4) Includes 56,200 shares which Mr. Henderson has the right to acquire within the next 60 days

through the exercise of stock options. Also included are 400 shares held by Mr. Henderson's
wife who has sole voting and investment powers thereof.

(5) Includes 15,003 shares held by Mr. Miller for the benefit of his children.
(6) Includes 66,900 shares which Mr. Schacht has the right to acquire within the next 60 days

through the exercise of stock options granted to him prior to his retirement as an employee of
the Company.

(7) Includes 29,000 shares which Mr. Solso has the right to acquire within the next 60 days through
the exercise of stock options. Also included are 15,919 shares held by a family trust and 14,604
shares held by a family limited partnership of which Mr. Solso is a general partner.

Directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast. Votes cast for a nominee and, if no
contrary instructions are indicated on a signed proxy, the shares represented by such proxy will be
voted for a nominee. Abstentions, broker non-votes and instructions on a signed proxy withholding a
vote will result in a nominee receiving fewer votes. However, the number of votes otherwise cast for
the nominee will not be affected by such actions.

The Board of Directors and Its Committees

The Board of Directors held six meetings during 1996. All of the directors attended 75% or
more meetings of the Board and Committees on which they served.

The Board of Directors has established eight standing committees. The functions performed by
certain of these committees and the members of the Board of Directors currently serving on these
committees are as follows:

Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee are D . S . Perkins (Chairman), H . H .
Gray and W. D. Ruckelshaus. The Committee reviews the accounting and auditing principles and
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procedures of the Company. The Audit Committee reviews the scope, timing, and fees for the annual
audit and the results of audit examinations performed by the internal auditors and independent public
accountants, including their recommendations to improve the system of accounting and internal
controls. The Audit Committee met four times during 1996.

Compensation Committee. The members of the Compensation Committee are H . H . Gray
(Chairman), H. Brown, D. S. Perkins, W. D. Ruckelshaus and F. A. Thomas. The Compensation
Committee administers and determines eligibility for and makes awards under the Company's stock
option and other stock incentive plans. The Committee also reviews and evaluates the Company's
executive compensation standards and practices, including salaries, bonus distributions, deferred
compensation practices and participation in stock purchase plans. The Compensation Committee met
four times during 1996.

Nominating and Organization Committee. The members of the Nominating and Organization
Committee are F. A. Thomas (Chairman), H. Brown, R. J. Darnall, W. Y. Elisha, H. H. Gray, W. I.
Miller, D. S. Perkins, W. D. Ruckelshaus, H. B. Schacht and J. L. Wilson. The Nominating and
Organization Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board with respect to
membership, size, composition, procedures and organization of the Board of Directors. The
Committee also evaluates the Chief Executive Officer' s performance and monitors meeting
attendance of Board members. This Committee will consider shareholders' recommendations of
nominees for election to the Board of Directors. Shareholder recommendations, including
biographical information as to the proposed candidate and a statement from the shareholder as to the
qualifications and willingness of such person to serve on the Company' s Board of Directors, must be
submitted in writing to the Secretary of the Company in accordance with the procedures established
in the Company' s By-Laws. The Nominating and Organization Committee replaced the former
Nominating Committee and met three times during 1996.

Executive Committee. The members of the Executive Committee are J . A . Henderson
(Chairman), W. I. Miller and T. M. Solso. The Executive Committee is authorized to exercise the
powers of the Board of Directors in the management and direction of the business and affairs of the
Company during the intervals between meetings of the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee
met one time during 1996.

Other Committees. In addition to the Committees described above , the Board of Directors has
established the following committees: Business Development and Finance Committee (J. L. Wilson,
Chairman, W. Y. Elisha and H. B. Schacht); Employee Development and Benefits Committee (R. J.
Darnall, Chairman, W. I. Miller and F. A. Thomas); Proxy Committee (H. B. Schacht, Chairman,
and F. A. Thomas); and Technology Committee (H. Brown, Chairman, and T. M. Solso).

Each director who is not an officer of the Company receives an annual fee of $45,000, $27,000
of which is paid in cash and $18,000 of which is paid in the form of restricted stock. Each non-officer
director also receives $1,000 for each special meeting of the Board of Directors attended. Committee
chairmen (other than the Executive or Proxy Committee) receive an additional annual fee of $9,000.
Non-chair members of the Audit, Business Development and Finance, Executive, Compensation,
Employee Development and Benefits, Nominating and Organization and Technology Committees
receive an additional $6,000 fee for each such Committee membership. Committee members also
receive $ 1,000 for attending a Committee meeting (other than a meeting of the Executive Committee)
that is not held in connection with a regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors.
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As part of the Company's overall support of charitable and educational institutions and as an
aid in attracting and retaining qualified directors, the Company has established the Cummins Engine
Company Charitable Bequest Program in which all directors participate. Upon the death of a director,
the Company will donate ten equal annual installments of $100,000 to one or more qualifying
institutions designated by such director, subject to certain vesting requirements based upon years of
service as a director. The Company has purchased life insurance policies on each director, the
proceeds of which fund donations under the program. Directors will not receive any financial benefit
from the program since all charitable deductions accrue solely to the Company.

Nominee Harold Brown has a consulting arrangement with the Company pursuant to which he
provides consulting services in connection with the Company's research and development activities
and related technology issues. During 1996, the Company paid Dr. Brown $50,000 for these services.
In addition, the Company has established a Science and Technology Advisory Council on which Dr.
Brown serves as Chairman. The Council advises senior management and the Board of Directors on
the direction and implication of developments in science, technology and environmental issues that
may have applicability to the Company' s current and future business goals and objectives. For his
services on the Council, Dr. Brown is paid an annual retainer of $17,000, including $7,000 for
serving as Chairman, and an additional fee of $3,000 for each day of meetings attended during the
year.

The Company has a deferred compensation plan for non-employee directors, pursuant to which
such directors may elect to defer receipt of all or any portion of their compensation while they serve
as a director of the Company. Upon ceasing to be a director, the deferred compensation, plus accrued
interest, is paid to the director or the director's beneficiary in a lump sum or in annual installments,
not to exceed ten, as specified by the director. Upon a change of control of the Company (as defined
in the plan), such deferred compensation and interest is paid in cash to the director in one lump sum.

During 1996, the Company maintained a retirement plan for non-employee directors who had
no vested rights under any other pension plan sponsored by the Company and who had served as a
director for 5 or more years. Under the plan, annual payments equal to the amount of fees (excluding
Committee fees) paid or payable for the final year of service were to be made to a former director
each year for the lesser of 20 years or the number of years served as a director. Upon a change of
control of the Company (as defined in the plan), the actuarial present value of accrued but unpaid
benefits was to be distributed to the director in one lump sum.

In early 1997, the Board of Directors determined to eliminate any future service accruals under
the retirement plan and to provide to each non-employee director, in lieu thereof, an increase in the
amount of the annual retainer fee payable in restricted Common Stock from $6,000 to $18,000 based
on the trailing 30 trading day average of closing prices of the Common Stock on the date of the
Company' s Annual Meeting each year. Directors with vested retirement plan benefits on the date
future accruals were eliminated will be given an option to have their accrued benefits frozen and
retained in the plan for future payment, or to convert the present value (using the same actuarial
assumptions as are applicable to the payment of pension benefits to the Company' s employees) of
their accrued benefits into phantom units of Common Stock based on a trailing trading day average
of closing prices of Common Stock on the date of conversion. The stock units, including additional
stock units credited thereon as dividend equivalents, will be evidenced by bookkeeping entries.
Recipients will have ne voting or investment power with respect to the stock units. The value of
each director's stock units will be payable only in cash on or after the director's ceasing to be a
member of the Board or upon a change of control of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee Report is organized as follows:

• Role of the Compensation Committee

• Objectives and Principles

• Compensation Program Elements

• Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer

Role of Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is made up of five members of the Board of Directors of the
Company, who are not current or former employees of the corporation. The Committee has oversight
responsibility for the Company' s executive compensation programs. The Committee sets the general
compensation philosophy of the Company. It reviews the elements of the compensation program, the
specifics of each element, the goals and measurements used in the program, and the results of the
compensation program compared to the philosophy to determine if the compensation program is
performing as expected.

In addition, the Committee reviews the individual levels and awards for each of the five most
highly paid officers and takes appropriate action. In its review, the Committee has direct access to
advice from professional executive compensation consultants. The Committee also reviews its
actions with the full Board of Directors.

Objectives and Principles of Executive Compensation

Cummins' executive compensation is designed to attract, motivate, and retain the personnel
required to achieve the Company' s performance goals in the competitive global business
environment. The program is designed to reflect the individual's contribution and the performance of
the Company. The program attempts to strike an appropriate balance between short-term and long-
term performance.

The Company is committed to the concept of pay for sustained financial performance. We
evaluate performance over several periods of time. While the specific elements of executive
compensation vary from time to time, the Compensation Committee focuses on this central principle
of pay for performance in reviewing the compensation program, any proposed changes, and the
specific awards.

The Committee follows several principles, in addition to pay for performance, in designing and
implementing compensation programs for its officers.

• Programs should provide competitive compensation opportunity, the concept of opportunity
is important in our program. We believe the executive should have the opportunity to do well
if the Company does well, but that total compensation should vary in relation to the
Company's performance.
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• An individual's compensation should be at the median of the range when compared to the
compensation of individuals in U.S. industrial companies with sales volumes similar to
Cummins, when Cummins' financial performance is at the median of those companies.

• There should be a balance between short-term and long-term elements of compensation.

• The more senior a person's position, the more the compensation should be "at risk", i.e.,
dependent on the performance of the Company.

• Stock should be an important part of the program in order to link the management's
compensation with shareholders' expectations; the greater the level of responsibility of the
person, the more the compensation should be stock-based.

• The system should be as simple and as easily understood as possible.

• Payouts should not accumulate, causing large one-time payments.

In addition to these principles, we have the following observations:
• No single program accomplishes these aims consistently; a mix of programs is best

• There is no single best comparator of performance with other companies; a mix of
comparators should be used.

• In this complex area, relative simplicity seems the best that can be achieved.

• There is no perfect program; change should be expected from time to time as the outcome of
the Committee's periodic reviews.

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code ("Section 162(m)") limits the corporate tax
deduction to one million dollars for compensation paid annually to any one of the named executive
officers in the proxy, unless the compensation meets certain requirements. The Committee adopted
changes to the compensation program, approved by shareholders in 1995, that qualify payments
under the Senior Executive Bonus Plan and Senior Executive Three Year Performance Plan for tax
deductibility under Section 162(m). These changes were designed to maximize tax deductibility,
while retaining the ability to attract, retain and motivate executives to achieve our business
objectives. Payments under these plans were certified by the Compensation Committee for each
payment period in 1996.

As indicated below, the Base Salary of the named executive officers is set at the median of the
range of the salaries of individuals with similar positions in companies of similar size to Cummins.
The Committee intends to continue this policy notwithstanding the enactment of Section 162(m).

Compensation Program Elements

The Company's executive compensation program consists of four elements: Base Salary, Short-
Term Bonus, Medium-Term compensation, and Long-Term compensation. Each is designed to
accomplish a somewhat different objective. In total, they are designed to fulfill the Company's basic
goals of linking pay to financial performance and paying competitively. All officers participate in
each element of the program.

We use survey data provided by our compensation consultants to determine competitive levels
of pay. These surveys include over 300 U.S. industrial corporations (including the eleven companies
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that comprise the "Peer Group" companies used in the Shareholder Return Performance Presentation
on page 12 of this Proxy Statement). Each element of pay described below is intended to provide
compensation for each position at the median of the amounts companies of similar size in the survey
would pay the same position.

1. Base Salary

Base Salary is reviewed annually. It is the only fixed portion of the executive's compensation.
Base Salary is normally set at the median of the range of the salaries of individuals with similar
positions in companies of similar size to Cummins.

2. Short-Term Bonus

This element is designed to link executive pay to the short-term performance of the Company.
The payout is made quarterly, with the Payout Factor calculated on a formula established by the
Committee and reviewed annually. Each person is assigned a participation rate that is a percent of
salary. The quarterly bonus is then determined as follows.

(Short-Term Bonus) equals (Annual Base Salary) times (participation percentage assigned to
each job) times (Payout Factor) times (44).

Participation rates are based on the same survey data as base salaries and are set at the median
of the range for like positions in similarly sized companies.

The Payout Factor for the quarterly bonus is set to yield a 1.0 Payout Factor for Company
financial performance that is at the median of U.S. industrial companies measured over recent history.
In 1996, return on equity was the measure used to compare performance. Return on equity levels are
converted to equivalent return on sales levels for use in the Payout Factor formula. In determining
the return on sales level equivalent to the market median return on equity to establish the 1.0 Payout
Factor point for the Short-Term Bonus Plan for 1996, we used a full corporate tax rate, not taking
credit for tax loss carryforwards.

When the Company' s performance is less than the median, the quarterly bonus pays less than
1.0--and does not pay at all if the Company is not profitable. When the Company' s performance
exceeds the median, the quarterly Payout Factor is greater than 1.0 and compensation is greater than
the median of those companies included in our surveys.

The Company organized into Business Units in the second half of 1996. Beginning in 1997,
one-half of the bonus for senior managers of the Company's Business Units will be determined by
the return on net assets of the Company's Business Units, and one-half will continue to be based on
the Company's performance, as described above. The Committee believes this formula will provide
appropriate balance, compensating for performance measured at the Business Unit level as well for
the total Company. Basing a significant portion of the bonus on total Company results rewards
Business Units for working in an integrated way, maximizing our total financial performance; adding
the Business Unit measure emphasizes business results each key manager affects most directly.

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 162 (m), designated officers (the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer in 1996) were compensated under a modified
version of the Short-Term Bonus Plan, called the Senior Executive Bonus Plan. The Senior Executive
Bonus Plan differs from the Short-Term Bonus Plan in which many employees at all levels of the
Company, including all officers, participate, only in that the Compensation Committee has no
discretion to increase the payouts once it establishes the performance measures each year.
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3. Medium-Term: Three Year Performance Plan

The Three Year Performance Plan measures Cummins' performance versus the Peer Group
companies over a rolling three-year cycle. For each three-year Award Cycle, a Target Award is
granted to each participant, expressed as a dollar amount.

The Committee establishes performance guidelines to determine the portion of the granted
amount to be paid for each three-year Award Cycle. A new Award Cycle begins each year, hence
payout opportunity is annual. The first payout under this program was in 1995. The performance
measure for Award Cycles ending before 1999 is return on equity. The Committee establishes a scale
of multiples of the Target Award to be paid for various levels of Company performance over each
Award Cycle. The plan pays the full granted amount if Cummins' performance (based on the
applicable performance measure) is equal to the median of the Peer Group companies over the three-
year cycle. A portion or multiple of the granted amount is paid if three-year performance is less or
greater than the median of these companies, based on a scale established by the Committee. The
maximum that can be paid is two times the Target Award for performance that is twice the median
of the Peer Companies.

As with the Short-Term Bonus Plan, to comply with the requirements of Section 162(m),
designated officers (the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer in 1996) were
compensated under a modified version of the Three Year Performance Plan, called the Senior
Executive Three Year Performance Plan. The plans are identical except that the Committee's
discretion to adjust payments upward is eliminated in the Senior Executive Three Year Performance
Plan.

4. Long-Term: The 1992 Cummins Stock Incentive Plan

Annually in December 1992 through 1995, and in July, 1996, restricted stock and stock options
were granted to officers under the 1992 Cummins Stock Incentive Plan. Restrictions on the restricted
stock will lapse on one-third of each grant annually, beginning two years and one month from the
date of each grant. The stock options expire ten years from grant, but cannot be exercised for the
first two years.

Grant amounts under the Medium-Term and Long-Term plan elements are set to provide total
compensation opportunity at the median of that provided by similarly-sized U.S. industrial companies
in our survey base, when combined with Base Salary and Short-Term Bonus. The Committee reviews
the proportion of total compensation that is dependent on Company performance in determining the
allocation of the compensation opportunity among each of the Medium-Term and Long-Term plan
elements for each position. More senior positions have a larger proportion of total compensation
opportunity dependent on Company performance than do less senior positions.

Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer
Approximately one-third of the CEO' s annualized total compensation opportunity is fixed Base

Salary. Two-thirds of the total is based on Company performance, assuming median Company
financial performance. When the Company's performance is better than the median, the variable
compensation elements pay more and comprise a larger portion of the total. When the Company's
performance is less than median, the variable elements pay less and comprise a smaller proportion of
the total.
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The Base Salary and Short-Term Bonus participation rate of the CEO are set at the median of
our survey companies specifically as described under the Base Salary and Short-Term Bonus sections
appearing earlier in this report.

In 1994 and 1995, the Company exceeded market median financial performance and the Short-
Term Bonus payouts reflected this performance. However, Company performance in 1996 lagged the
market median, and this is reflected in lower bonus payouts for the CEO in 1996. While the
Company's Profit Before Tax was 27% less, the CEO's Short-Term Bonus was 48.7% less, from
$646,500 in 1995 to $333,675 in 1996.

In July, 1996 the CEO received grants of restricted stock and stock options under the Long-
Term 1992 Stock Incentive Plan, as well as a Target Award (payable in 2000) under the Medium-
Term Three Year Performance Plan. This was the fifth set of grants under these Plans. The
Committee intends to continue making grants annually.

In determining grant amounts for the CEO, as explained earlier, the Committee set the total of
the four elements of the executive compensation program-Base Salary, Short-Term Bonus,
Medium-Term Plan, and the Long-Term Plan-to provide annualized compensation opportunity to
the CEO equal to the median of the range of total compensation opportunity provided for CEOs by
the survey companies described earlier in this report.

The CEO, on a yearly basis, discusses in detail his priorities and objectives with the Nominating
and Organization Committee (the members and responsibilities of the Nominating and Organization
Committee are shown on page 5 of this proxy). The Nominating and Organization Committee
formally reviews the CEO's performance against his stated objectives, especially the progress made
by the Company in implementing its business strategy and achieving its business objectives, both
short-term and long-term. This review considers both quantitative and qualitative performance
matters, and is a key factor in setting the CEO' s compensation.

The Committee commends the CEO for the objectives he has very clearly articulated and for
excellent progress in their attainment. During 1996, an especially noteworthy and significant
accomplishment has been the reorganization of the Company into a business unit structure that places
substantial and appropriate focus on the priorities of customer service and shareholder value.

We hope this general discussion and the following tables and graphs help you understand the
Company' s executive compensation philosophy and program.

HANNA H. GRAY, CHAIRMAN

HAROLD BROWN
DONALD S. PERKINS
WILLIAM D. RucKELSHAITS

FRANKLIN A. THOMAS
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Shareholder Return Performance Presentation

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on the Common Stock of
the Company for the last five fiscal years with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Index and
an index of peer companies selected by the Company. The comparisons in this table are required by
the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible
future performance of the Company's stock.
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Corporation. Ford Motor Company, General Motors Corporation, Ingersoll-Rand Company, Navistar International
Corporation and Paccar. Inc.

Compensation Tables and Other Information

The summary compensation table and accompanying notes and other information on the
following pages include individual compensation information for the last three fiscal years on the
Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the four other most highly compensated
executive officers during 1996. The dollar value of perquisites and other personal benefits for each
of the named executive officers was less than the established reporting threshold and is not included
in the table.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
ANNUAL COMPENSATION LONG TERM COMPENSATION

Awards Payouts

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)
Stock Medium-

Restricted Options/ Term
Name and Stock SARs Performance LTIP All Other

Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Awards (#) Plans Payouts Compensation
Ill- lill- - I

J. A. Henderson
Chairman of the Board 1996 $772,500 $333,675 $575,000 37,500 $375,000 $ 0 $13,524
and Chief Executive 1995 $727,500 $646,500 $418,500 28,100 $382,500 $ 0 $52,700
Officer 1994 $654,000 $767,940 $346,000 22,600 $203,680 $1,081,250 $39,520

T. M. Solso
President and Chief 1996 $517,500 $204,187 $391,000 22,100 $200,000 $ 0 $47,896
Operating Officer 1995 $480,000 $390,500 $267,375 17,900 $225,000 $ 0 $38,024

1994 $405,417 $439,381 $177,325 11,500 $ 91,706 $ 378,438 $28,203

F. J. Loughrey
Executive Vice President 1996 $376,250 $134,750 $211,600 11,900 $ 93,750 $ 0 $15,951
Group President- 1995 $347,292 $259,792 $162,750 10,800 $112,500 $ 0 $20,720
Industrial 1994 $275,000 $222,131 $129,750 8,000 $ 57,704 $ 173,000 $19,230

C. R. Cordaro
Executive Vice President 1996 $293,750 $101,531 $170,200 9,600 $ 68,750 $ 0 $23,887
Group President- 1995 $270,000 $181,125 $131,750 8,800 $ 82,500 $ 0 $23,552
Automotive 1994 $257,500 $226,294 $ 75,688 4,900 $ 54,438 $ 173,043 $18,246

J. K. Edwards
Executive Vice President 1996 $293,750 $101,531 $170,200 9,600 $ 68,750 $ 0 $ 1,957
Group President- 1995 $252,500 $168,750 $131,750 8,800 $ 82,500 $ 0 $17,458
Power Generation 1994 $235,000 $206,663 $ 86,500 6,000 $ 37,688 $ 86,414 $18,276

(1) Pursuant to the Company's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan, a total of 93,700 shares of Restricted Stock were granted in 1996,
having a total value at date of grant of $3,841,700. Shares are restricted for two years and one month subsequent to
grant, then are vested in 1/5 annual increments, if the participant remains an employee of the Company. Dividends will be
paid on these shares. As of year-end 1996, the total number of shares of Restricted Stock and the value thereof held by
each executive officer was as follows: J. A. Henderson, 37,167 shares, $1,709,682; T. M. Solso, 23,001 shares,
$1,058,046; F. J. Loughrey, 13,201 shares, $607,246; J. K. Edwards, 10,500 shares, $483,000; C. R. Cordaro, 10,084
shares, $463,864.

(2) Stock options awarded pursuant to the Company's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and 1986 Stock Option Plan.
(3) The payout for 1996 represents payout for the 1992 Award Cycle under the Three Year Performance Plan. This was the

second payout under the Three Year Performance Plan. The payout is calculated as the individual's Target Award times
Payout Factor for the Award Cycle. The Payout Factor was based on the Company' s Return on Equity compared to the
median ROE of a panel of eleven comparator companies over the Three Year Award Cycle. The payout in 1994
represents payout for the 1989-1993 Award Cycle under the Five Year Performance Plan. This was the final payout under
that plan. The payout was calculated as Base Salary times the individual' s Participation Percentage times Payout Factor
for the Award Cycle. The Payout Factor was based on the Company' s Return on Equity compared to the median ROE of
a panel of eleven comparator companies over the Five Year Award Cycle.

(4) Represents shares distributed under the Company' s Performance Share Plan. The Performance Share Plan was adopted
in 1987 under which executive officers and other key employees were awarded Share Rights to be converted into shares
of the Company's Common Stock by December 31, 2006, or earlier as financial performance goals established by the
Compensation Committee were achieved. The Plan was intended to cover the seven-year period 1988 through 1994.
There were no distributions of Share Rights for Plan Year 1988, Plan Year 1989, or Plan Year 1990. The distribution for
Plan Year 1991 was made in February 1992; the 1992 distribution was made in February 1993; the 1993 distribution was
made in February 1994; the final distribution was made in January 1995.

(5) Amounts reported as "All Other Compensation" for 1996 include, respectively, matching contributions by the Company
under the Retirement and Savings Plan and "above market" earnings on previously deferred compensation as follows:
J. A. Henderson ($449 and $13,075); T. M. Solso ($2,014 and $45,882); F. J. Loughrey ($1,993 and $13,958);
C. R. Cordaro ($1,979 and $21,908); J. K. Edwards ($1,957 and $0)
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Security Ownership of Management

Set forth below is information as of February 28, 1997, regarding the beneficial ownership of
Common Stock of the Company by the Chief Executive Officer, each of the other named executive
officers during 1996 and the directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Percent
Ownership of Class

James A. Henderson
Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer . 172,768(1) *

Theodore M. Solso
President and Chief Operating
Officer . 91,233(2) *

F. Joseph Loughrey
Executive Vice President
Group President-Industrial 43,7770) *

C. Roberto Cordaro
Executive Vice President
Group President--Automotive 36,490(4) *

John K. Edwards
Executive Vice President
Group President-Power

Generation . .. 32,886(5) *
All directors and executive officers as

a group, a total of 21 persons . 668,610(6) 1.6%

*Less than 1 %
(1) See footnote 4 to the director nominee listing on page 4.
(2) See footnote 7 to the director nominee listing on page 4.
(3) Includes 15,750 shares which Mr. Loughrey has the right to acquire within the next 60 days

through the exercise of stock options.
(4) Includes 13,150 shares which Mr. Cordaro has the right to acquire within the next 60 days

through the exercise of stock options.
(5) Includes 14,950 shares which Mr. Edwards has the right to acquire within the next 60 days

through the exercise of stock options.
(6) Includes 246,450 shares which the officers and directors have the right to acquire within the

next 60 days through the exercise of stock options.
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The following table discloses, for each of the named executive officers, information regarding

individual grants of stock options and stock appreciation rights made during 1996, and their potential
realizable values.

Option/SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed
Annual Rates of

Stock Price
Appreciation for

Individual Grants Option Terrns

% of Total
Options/SARs

(1) Granted to Exercise
Options/SARs Employees in Price Expiration

Name Granted (#) Fiscal Year ($/share) Date 5% ($) 10% ($)
J. A. Henderson 32,500 8.2% $40.625 7/8/06 $831.797 $2,099,297

5,000 1.3% $37.688 9/3/06 $118,716 $ 299,616

T. M. Solso .. 22,100 5.6% $40.625 7/8/06 $565,622 $1,427,522

F. J. Loughrey 11,900 3.0% $40.625 7/8/06 $304.566 $ 768,666
J. K. Edwards 9,600 2.4% $40.625 7/8/06 $245,700 $ 620,100

C. R. Cordaro 9,600 2.4% $40.625 7/8/06 $245,700 $ 620,100

Stock option and stock appreciation right exercise activity during 1996, on an aggregated basis
for each of the named executives, is contained in the following table. Also disclosed are the number

and value of options and appreciation rights, on an aggregated basis, held by each named executive
as of December 31, 1996.

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year, and FY-End Option/SAR Value

Value of
Number of Unexercised

Number of Unexercised In-the-Money
Securities Options/SARs at Options/SARs at

Underlying Value FY-end (#) FY-End ($)
Options/SARs Realized

Narne Exercised ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

J. A. Henderson 0 $0 56,200 60,60() $220,390 $371,225

T. M. Solso 0 $0 29,000 40,000 $117,555 $243,977
F. J. Loughrey . . 0 $0 15,750 22,700 $ 53.880 $139.503
J. K. Edwards . 0 $0 14,950 18,400 $114.010 $113,152

C. R. Cordaro . 0 $0 13,150 18,400 $ 43,026 $113,152
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Estimated benefits payable to each named executive pursuant to long-term incentive plan rights
awarded during 1996 are disclosed in the following table.

Long.Term Incentive Plan Awards in Last Fiscal Year/SAR Value

Number of Estimated Future PayoutsShares, Units
or other Period Until Under Non-Stock Based Plans

Name Rights(1) Payout Threshold Target Maximum
LA.Henderson .........,..,. .,...,,, O $105,000 $420,000 $840,000
T. M. Solso , 0 $71,250 $285,000 $570,000
R J. Loughrey ...,.. .... 0 $ 38,750 $155,000 $310,000
C. R. Cordaro.....,... 0 $25,000 $100,000 $200,000
J. K. Edwards....... ~~ ~~~~,~,,, 0 $ 25,000 $100,000 $200,000

(1) No shares, units or other rights were awarded in the last fiscal year. The Company has made
targeted dollar awards under its Three Year Performance Plan and Senior Executive Three Year
Performance Plan, with payouts tied to Company performance over a rolling three-year cycle,
as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Committee
establishes performance measures as guidelines. For the 1996-1998 Award Cycle under the
Three Year Performance Plan (payable in 1999), and the 1997-1999 Award Cycle under the
Senior Executive Three Year Performance Plan (payable in 2000), the performance guidelines
are tied to achieving certain levels of return on equity (ROE) compared to the Peer Group
companies. The Target Award will be earned if the Company's ROE is equal to the median
ROE of the Peer Group companies. The Threshold Payment will be earned if the Company' s
ROE is 50% of the Peer Group companies' median ROE. The Maximum Payment is earned if
the Company's ROE is 200% of the Peer Group companies' ROE.
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Pension Plan Table

The Company maintains retirement pension programs for its employees, including the executive
officers named in the Summary Compensation Table on page 13. Elements of the program for the
executive officers include the Company's Cash Balance Pension Plan, the Excess Benefit Plan which
provides pension benefits in excess of limitations imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, and the
Supplemental Life Insurance and Deferred Income Program. The following table sets forth the
estimated maximum annual pension benefits payable on a straight life annuity basis under the
program to the officers in various compensation and years of service classifications upon retirement
at age 65. An officer who is among the Company' s two highest paid executive officers at the time of
retirement will receive an annual benefit greater than amounts reflected in the table by an amount
equal to 1 0% of the officer' s covered compensation.

Average
Total Cash

Compensation Estimated Annual Benefit Upon Retirement
(Base Salary
plus Short- 10 15 20 25 30+

Term Bonus) Years Years Years Years Years

$ 200,000 $ 40,000 $ 60,000 $ 80,000 $ 90,000 $100,000
$ 275,000 $ 55,000 $ 82,500 $110,000 $123,750 $137,500
$ 350,000 $ 70,000 $105,000 $140,000 $157,500 $175,000
$ 425,000 $ 85,000 $127,500 $170,000 $191,250 $212,500
$ 500,000 $100,000 $150,000 $200,000 $225,000 $250.000
$ 575.000 $115,000 $172,500 $230,000 $258,750 $287,500
$ 650,000 $130,000 $195,000 $260,000 $292,500 $325,000
$ 725,000 $145,000 $217,500 $290,000 $326,250 $362,500
$ 800,000 $160,000 $240,000 $320,000 $360.000 $400.000
$ 875,000 $175.000 $262,500 $350,000 $393.750 $437,500
$ 950,000 $190,000 $285,000 $380,000 $427,500 $475,000
$1,025,000 $205,000 $307,500 $410,000 $461,250 $5 12,500
$1,100,000 $220,000 $330,000 $440,000 $495,000 $550,000
$1,175,000 $235,000 $352.500 $470,000 $528.750 $587,500
$1,250,000 $250,000 $375,000 $500,000 $562,500 $625,000
$1,325,000 $265,000 $397,500 $530,000 $596,250 $662,500
$1,400,00() $280,000 $420,000 $560,000 $630,000 $700,000
$1,475.000 $295,000 $442,500 $590,000 $663,750 $737.500

Compensation for purposes of the pension program is the highest average total cash
compensation, including base salary and short-term bonus payments, for any consecutive five-year
period prior to retirement. Covered compensation is disclosed under the "Salary" and "Bonus"
columns of the Summary Compensation Table. Covered compensation and full years of service as of
December 31, 1996 for the Company's Chief Executive Officer and the other named executive
officers are as follows: J. A. Henderson, $1,126,433,32 years; T. M. Solso, $700,973,25 years; F. J.
Loughrey, $463,558,23 years; C. R. Cordaro, $398,052,18 years; J. K. Edwards, $368,055,24 years.

Change of Control Arrangements

In the event of a change of control of the Company, the Company will provide benefits to certain
executives including the Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table on page 13. Each of the named executive officers would be entitled to three
year' s salary plus twelve quarterly bonus payments. The Company will also provide for the full
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vesting of certain insurance and retirement benefits and the continuation in effect for a three-year
severance period of certain other employee benefits. In addition, the Company's retirement plans will
allocate any actuarial surplus assets to fund increased pension benefits, stock options previously
granted will become fully exercisable, and certain long-term incentive plan awards will be paid in
cash. The value of supplemental and excess retirement annuity benefits will also be paid in cash. A
change of control for these purposes is defined in each of the various plans and programs providing
these benefits.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of the Company's Compensation Committee are Hanna H. Gray, Harold Brown,
Donald S. Perkins, William D. Ruckelshaus and Franklin A. Thomas.

Member Harold Brown has a consulting arrangement with the Company pursuant to which he
provides consulting services in connection with the Company' s research and development activities
and related technology issues. During 1996, the Company paid Dr. Brown $50,000 for these services.
In addition, the Company has established a Science and Technology Advisory Council on which Dr.
Brown serves as Chairman. The Council advises senior management and the Board of Directors on
the direction and implication of developments in science, technology and environmental issues that
may have applicability to the Company's current and future business goals and objectives. For his
services on the Council, Dr. Brown is paid an annual retainer of $17,000, including $7,000 for
serving as Chairman, and an additional fee of $3,000 for each day of meetings attended during the
year.

Other Transactions and Agreements With Directors and Officers

As an employee of the Company, nominee James A. Henderson has deferred receipt of certain
amounts of his salary and bonus pursuant to the Company's Deferred Compensation Plan. Amounts
deferred have been included in the respective Summary Compensation Tables of the Company' s
proxy statements for the years in which earned. On March 26, 1996 the Company and Mr. Henderson
agreed that he would forego receipt of $1,215,119 of his Deferred Compensation Plan account
balance and future earnings thereon in exchange for entering into a split-dollar life insurance
arrangement with the Company. Under the terms of the Deferred Compensation Plan, Mr.
Henderson' s unpaid balance would have continued to accrue interest and would have been payable
beginning one year following the year of his retirement. Discounted at 7%, the present value cost to
the Company of the Deferred Compensation Plan liability, assuming the Plan's expected rate of
return on the unpaid balance, would have been $970,706. Under the split-dollar arrangement, the
Company will pay premiums of $249,489 per year for ten years to a life insurance trust in connection
with an insurance policy or policies on the lives of Mr. Henderson and his wife and will be refunded
all of such premiums at the end of the 10th year, resulting in an equal present value cost to the
Company of $970,706.

Prior to his retirement from the Company, nominee Henry B. Schacht also deferred receipt of
certain amounts of compensation pursuant to the Deferred Compensation Plan, which amounts had
been included in the Summary Compensation Tables. As of July 19, 1996, the total amounts deferred
including accrued interest thereon payable by the Company to Mr. Schacht was $2,116,723.
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On that date, the Company and Mr. Schacht agreed that he would forego receipt of his Deferred
Compensation Plan account balance and future earnings thereon in exchange for a split-dollar life
insurance arrangement similar to Mr. Henderson's. Mr. Schacht's unpaid balance would have
continued to accrue interest and would have been payable in a lump sum in 2004. Discounted at 7%,
the present value cost to the Company of the Deferred Compensation liability, under the same
assumptions as for Mr. Henderson, would have been $1,767,127. Under the split-dollar arrangement,
the Company will pay premiums of $454,184 per year for ten years in connection with an insurance
policy or policies on the lives of Mr. Schacht and his wife and will be refunded all of such premiums
at the end of the 10th year, resulting in an equal present value cost to the Company of $1,767,127.

Pursuant to the Company's 1986 Stock Option Plan, 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and its Key
Employee Stock Investment Plan, certain officers have exercised options and purchased shares of
Common Stock of the Company on an installment basis. The interest rate on these loans is the
minimum annual rate permitted under the Internal Revenue Code without imputation of income. The
following table shows, as to those executive officers and directors of the Company who were
indebted to the Company in excess of $60,000 since January 1, 1996, the largest aggregate amount
owed for such purchases and loans at any time since January 1, 1996, and the amount owed as of
January 31, 1997:

Amount of
Largest Indebtedness

Amount of as of
Indebtedness January 31, 1997

M. E. Chesnut .......... $ 80,750.00 $ 80,750.00
C. R. Cordaro...................... $220,000.00 $ 0
M. R. Gerstle $ 70,162.50 $ 13,800.00
J. A. Henderson......... $667,933.72 $667,933.72
M. D. Jones........................ $196,125.00 $ 0
K. M. Patel ..... $155,500.00 $155,500.00
B. S. Pitts $ 84,250.00 $ 84,250.00
T. M. Solso........................ $182,500.00 $182,500.00

The Company has a policy of purchasing from employees of the Company shares of Common
Stock of the Company that have been acquired under the Key Employee Stock Investment Plan, 1986
Stock Option Plan and 1992 Stock Incentive Plan. The purchase price for such shares is the closing
price quoted on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape on the date of purchase. During
1996, three executive officers sold shares to the Company pursuant to this policy.

SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

(Item 2)

The Board of Directors has voted to appoint Arthur Andersen LLP as the firm of independent
public accountants to audit the accounts of the Company for the year 1997. Arthur Andersen LLP
has acted as independent public accountants for the Company since 1952. Although the selection and
appointment of independent public accountants is not required to be submitted to a vote of the
shareholders, the Board of Directors has decided, as in the past, to ask the Company's shareholders
to ratify the appointment. A representative of Arthur Andersen LLP will be present, will have the
opportunity to make a statement and will be available to answer appropriate questions at the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
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The proposal to ratify the appointment of Arthur Andersen LLP as the firm of independent
public accountants to audit the accounts of the Company for the year 1997 will be adopted if the
number of votes cast in favor of ratification exceeds the number of votes cast against ratification.
Votes cast against and abstentions on the Item will be counted as votes against the Item. Broker non-
votes will not change the number of votes cast for or against the Item. If the shareholders do not
ratify the selection of Arthur Andersen LLP, the selection of independent public accountants will be
determined by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors after careful consideration of all
information submitted by shareholders.

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR this Proposal.

OTHER BUSINESS

The Board of Directors does not know of any business to be presented for action at the meeting
other than that set forth in Items 1 and 2 of the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders. However,
if other business properly comes before the Meeting, the persons named in the enclosed proxy will
vote the returned proxies as the Board of Directors recommends.

OTHER INFORMATION

1997 Shareholder Proposals

Proposals intended to be presented by shareholders of the Company at the 1998 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders must be submitted to and received by the Secretary of the Company for inclusion in
the Company' s proxy statement and form of proxy for that Meeting not later than November 1,1997.

Expenses of Solicitation

The cost of this proxy solicitation will be borne by the Company. Morrow & Co., 345 Hudson
Street, New York, New York 10013, has been retained to assist in the solicitation of proxies and will
receive a fee not to exceed $6,500 plus expenses. Proxies may also be solicited by directors, officers
and employees of the Company at no additional cost. Banks, brokerage houses and other institutions,
nominees or fiduciaries will be requested to forward the proxy materials to the beneficial owners of
the Common Stock and will be reimbursed for their reasonable expenses incurred in forwarding such
matters.

March 1, 1997
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NOMINEES FOR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Henderson was elected Chairman of the Board of the Company
in 1995 after serving as Chief Executive Officer since 1994 and its
President since 1977. He received a Bachelor of Arts degree from

13. Princeton University in 1956, served in the U.S. Navy and received
an M.B.A. from Harvard in 1963. He joined the Company in 1964

./ 1 as Assistant to the Chairman and in 1965 was elected Vice President26/00. i I ...Ii -Management Development. After serving as Vice President-
Personnel and Vice President-Operations, Mr. Henderson was
elected Executive Vice President in 1971. He was also Chief
Operating Officer from 1975 to 1994. He serves as a Director of
Inland Steel Industries, Inc., American Information Technologies

JAMES A. Corporation, Landmark Communications, Inc., Ryerson Tull, Inc.
HENDERSON and Rohm and Haas Company. He is also President of the Board of

Trustees, The Culver Educational Foundation, a member of the
Policy Committee of the Business Roundtable, and a member of The
Business Council.

Mr. Solso was elected President and Chief Operating Officer of the
- Company in 1995 after serving as Executive Vice President-
I.:= 3 Operations since 1992 and Chief Operating Officer since 1994.

From 1988 to 1992 he was Vice President and General Manager-
Engine Business after serving in various other executive positions

E 1.,1 '. with the Company. Mr. Solso received a B.A. from DePauw
University in 1969 and an M.B.A. degree from Harvard University
in 1971. He is a Director of Amoco Corporation, Cyprus Amax
Minerals Company and Irwin Financial Corporation, and is a
member of the boards of Cummins Engine Foundation, Heritage
Fund of Bartholomew County and Otter Creek Golf Course in

THEODORE M. Columbus, Indiana. He is also a member of the Board of Trustees,
SOLSO DePauw University and of the Dean' s Advisory Boards of the

Schools of Business of Hofstra University and Indiana University.
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. Dr. Brown is Counselor at the Center for Strategic and International
r ·. .,-I./.6 Studies and a partner in the venture banking firm of Warburg ,

' t. Pincus & Co. Dr. Brown received an A.B. in 1945, an A.M. in 1946
4*

g and a Ph.D. in Physics in 1949, all from Columbia University. From
4 1947 to 1952, he taught and held research positions at Columbia, the

Stevens Institute of Technology and the University of California at
/, Berkeley. He then was associated with Livermore Laboratory at the

University of California, becoming Director in 1960. Dr. Brown was

1965, when he was named Secretary of the Air Force, a position he
Director of Defense Research and Engineering from 1961 until

held until 1969 when he became President of the California Institute
HAROLD BROWN of Technology. From January, 1977 until January, 1981, he served

as Secretary of Defense. From 1981 until 1984, he was
Distinguished Visiting Professor and from 1984 until June, 1992,
Chairman of the Foreign Policy Institute at The Johns Hopkins
University. Dr. Brown is a member of the National Academy of
Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering and a Fellow of the
American Physical Society. He is a Director of Alumax, Inc.,
Evergreen Holdings, Inc., International Business Machines
Corporation, Mattel, Inc. and Philip Morris Companies, Inc. He is a
Trustee of the California Institute of Technology and the Rand
Corporation.

I . ... •,71- Mr. Darnall is Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of
Inland Steel Industries, Inc. Mr. Darnall is a graduate of DePauw
University, B.A. in Mathematics in 1960; Columbia University, B.S.rt
in Civil Engineering in 1962; and the University of Chicago, M.B.A.
in 1973. He joined the Inland Steel Company, predecessor of Inland
Steel Industries, in 1962. Mr. Darnall advanced through a number
of positions at the company's Indiana Harbor Works steel plant,

; becoming General Manager in 1979. He was elected Vice President,
Engineering and Corporate Planning, in 1981, and Executive Vice
President in 1982, and he was also elected to Inland's Board of
Directors in 1983. In 1984, he was elected President of Inland Steel

ROBERT J. Company and Chief Operating Officer of its Integrated Steel
DARNALL business segment. He became President and Chief Operating Officer

of Inland Steel Industries, Inc. in 1986, and was named to his current
position in 1992. He serves as a Director of Household International,
Inc„ Ryerson Tull, Inc. and the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago,
and as a Trustee or Director of DePauw University, The University
of Chicago, the Glenwood School for Boys, and Junior Achievement
of Chicago.
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- Mr. Elisha is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Springs
Industries, Inc. Mr. Elisha is a graduate of Wabash College and the
Harvard Business School. He has been a Director of Springs

r2'; - Industries, Inc. since 1980 and served as President and Chief
Operating Officer from 1980 to 1981. Mr. Elisha has served as
Springs Industries, Inc.'s Chief Executive Officer since 1981 and

- has been Chairman of its Board since 1983. Mr. Elisha also serves
on the Board of Directors for AT&T. Mr. Elisha is an honorary
trustee of the Brookings Institution and a trustee of the Committee
for Economic Development, a member of The Business Roundtable
serving on its Policy Committee, the Business Council, the Council

WALTER Y. on Competitiveness, and is a member of the President' s Advisory
ELISHA Committee for Trade Policy and Negotiations, and is past President

of the American Textile Manufacturers Institute. Mr. Elisha is also
a Trustee of Wabash College and has served as a member of the
Board of Directors of the Associates of the Harvard Business
School.

Mrs. Gray is President Emeritus and Professor of History,
- University of Chicago. Mrs. Gray was graduated with a B.A. from

* Bryn Mawr College in 1950 and a Ph. D. from Harvard in 1957.
During 1950-51 she was a Fulbright scholar at Oxford. She was an
Instructor at Bryn Mawr in 1953-54 and was on the Harvard faculty
from 1955-60. She became an Assistant Professor at the University
of Chicago in 1961, was promoted to Associate Professor in 1964
and in 1972 was appointed Dean and Professor of History at
Northwestern University. Mrs. Gray was Provost and Professor of
History at Yale from 1974 to 1978 and was acting President from
1977-78. She served as President of the University of Chicago from

HANNA H. GRAY 1978-1993. She became President Emeritus of the University of
Chicago in 1993 and is now the Harry Pratt Judson Distinguished
Service Professor of History. Mrs. Gray is a Fellow of the American
Academy of Arts and Sciences and a Trustee of numerous
educational institutions. She is also a Director of J.P. Morgan and
Company and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company, Atlantic Richfield
Company, and American Information Technologies Corporation.
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Mr. Miller is Chairman of Irwin Financial Corporation. Mr. Miller
received a B.A. from Yale University in 1978 and an M.B.A. degree
from Stanford University in 1981. He was President of Irwin

---- Management Company, a family investment management company,
from 1984 to 1990. Since September, 1990, he has been Chairman
of Irwin Financial Corporation, a publicly traded diversified
financial services company, of which he has been a Director since
1985. Mr. Miller continues to serve as Chairman of the Board and a

- Director of Irwin Management Company and as Chairman of the
Board of Tipton Lakes Company (a real estate development firm).
Mr. Miller is a Director of Tennant Company (a manufacturer of

WILLIAM I. MILLER industrial cleaning equipment), a Director of the New Perspective
Fund, Inc. and a Trustee of the EuroPacific Growth Fund (both are
mutual funds). Mr. Miller also is a Trustee of The Taft School,
Watertown, CT, and Public Radio International, Minneapolis, MN.

Mr. Perkins is the former Chairman of Jewel Companies, Inc. Mr.
Perkins graduated from Yale University and the Harvard Business
School. He served in the U.S. Merchant Marines in the mid 1940s
and the Air Force in the early 1950s. Starting as a trainee with the

·1 then Jewel Tea Company in 1953, he was elected Vice President in
1960, Executive Vice President three years later, President in 1965
and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in 1970. He retired from
Jewel Companies, Inc. in 1983. Mr. Perkins also serves as a Director
of the AON Corporation, Current Assets, Illinova and Illinois Power
Company, Inland Steel Industries, Inc., LaSalle Street Fund, LaSalle
U.S. Realty Income and Growth Fund Inc., Lucent Technologies

DONALD S. Inc., The Putnam Funds, Ryerson Tull, Inc., Springs Industries, Inc.
PERKINS and Time Warner Incorporated. He is an Honorary trustee of The

Brookings Institution, trustee and Vice Chairman of Northwestern
University, trustee of the Hospital Research and Educational Trust,
Honorary Chairman of The Illinois Coalition and Protector of the
Thyssen-Bornemisza Continuity Trust. He is also a member of The
Business Council, the Civic Committee of The Commercial Club of
Chicago, a Director of the Golden Apple Foundation, Leadership for
Quality Education and a member of the Spencer Stuart Advisory
Board.
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Mr. Ruckelshaus is currently a Principal in the Madrona Investment
Group, L.L.C. and is Chairman of Browning-Ferris Industries. He
was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Browning-Ferris
Industries until 1996. Mr. Ruckelshaus received a B.A. from
Princeton in 1957 and an LL. B. from Harvard in 1960 after serving

j in the U.S. Army. He was Deputy Attorney General and Chief
Counsel in the Indiana Attorney General' s Office from 1960-65. He

a FS ~ was elected to the Indiana House of Representatives, where he
served as Majority Leader in the 1967 session. Mr. Ruckelshaus first
served in the Federal Government from January, 1969 to October,
1973, as Assistant Attorney General, as Administrator of the

WILLIAM D. Environmental Protection Agency, Acting Director of the F.B.I. and
RUCKELSHAUS Deputy Attorney General. He returned as Administrator of the

Environmental Protection Agency from 1983 through January, 1985.
He practiced law in Washington, D.C., from 1973 until joining
Weyerhaeuser in 1976 as Senior Vice President. He was of counsel
in the law firm of Perkins Coie, with offices in Seattle, Portland,
Anchorage and Washington, D.C. from 1985 to 1988. Mr.
Ruckelshaus is a Director of Monsanto, Inc., Nordstrom, Inc.,
Weyerhaeuser Company, and Gargoyles, Inc.

Mr. Schacht was named Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
.. Lucent Technologies, Inc. in 1995. Mr. Schacht served as Chairman

of the Board of the Company from 1977 to 1995 and Chief- , .~.&. q *r.n
Executive Officer from 1973 to 1994. He was President of the
Company from 1969 to 1977. Mr. Schacht joined Cummins as Vice
President-Finance in 1964, and served in various executive
positions. He earned a B.S. in Industrial Administration from Yale
in 1956 and, after serving in the U.S. Navy, an M.B.A. from
Harvard in 1962. Mr. Schacht was with Irwin Management
Company before joining Cummins. He is a Director of Lucent
Technologies, Inc., Aluminum Company of America and The Chase

HENRY B. Manhattan Corporation; a Trustee of The Yale Corporation,
SCHACHT Committee for Economic Development and The Ford Foundation;

and a member of the Council for Foreign Relations, Inc. and The
Business Council.
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Mr. Thomas is currently a Consultant with the TFF Study Group and
served as President of The Ford Foundation until 1996. Mr. Thomas
received a B.A. from Columbia University in 1956 and an U. B. in

- 1963. From 1956 to 1960, he was a navigator with the U.S. Air
Force. Mr. Thomas served as attorney for the Federal Housing

- ./ Finance Agency (1963-64), Assistant U.S. Attorney for the
. Southern District of New York (1964) and a Deputy Police

Commissioner for New York City (1965-67). Mr. Thomas was
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Bedford Stuyvesant

- Restoration Corporation from 1967 to 1977. He was an attorney and
consultant engaged in private practice from 1977 to 1979. He is also

FRANKLIN A. a Director of Citicorp/Citibank, N.A., Alcoa, Lucent Technologies,
THOMAS Inc., and PepsiCo. and serves as a Trustee for The Ford Foundation.

Mr. Wilson has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Rohm and Haas Company since 1988. Mr. Wilson received aE e ..li bachelor' s degree in mechanical engineering from Vanderbilt
University in 1958 and an M.B.A. from Harvard University in 1963.
He served as an officer in the U.S. Navy from 1958 to 1961. Mr.
Wilson joined Rohm and Haas Company in 1965 as an operations
research analyst. He has since held positions as President of a
medical products subsidiary, Director of the European region,
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer, Business Director for the
Industrial Chemicals Group, Group Vice President in charge of the
company's Administrative and Finance and Vice Chairman. Mr.

J. LAWRENCE Wilson has been a Director of Rohm and Haas Company since 1977.
WILSON Mr. Wilson is a member of the board of Vanderbilt University, and

the Vanguard Group of Investment Companies. He serves as
Chairman of the Board of the Philadelphia High School Academies,
Inc. and is Chairman of The Chemical Manufacturers Association.
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Description Cummins Engine Company isthe leading
of the Company's Business worldwide designer and manufacturer of

diesel engines ranging from 76 to 6,000
horsepower. The company also produces
natural gas engines, as well as engine
components and subsystems.
As the world's largest manufacturer of
diesel engines above 200 horsepower,
Cummins provides power and components
for a wide variety of equipment in its key
markets: automotive, power generation,
industrial and filtration.
Cummins' 1996 sales were $5.3 billion
and it employs 23,500 people worldwide.

Corporate Headquarters Cummins Engine Company, Inc.
Columbus, Indiana 47202-3005



Net Sales by Marketing Territory

*r'
t

2% Africa/Middle East

5% Mexico/South America

6% Canada

56% United States

14% Europe

17% Asia/Far East/Australia

Highlights
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Dollars in millions, except per share amounts 1996 1995

Summary of operations:
Net sales.. $5,257 $5,245
Earnings before taxes and restructuring charges 214 295
Net earnings 160 224

Per common share:
Net earnings.... $ 4.01 $ 5.52
Cash dividends 1.00 1.00
Common shareholders' investment. 33.24 29.39

Common shares outstanding (millions). .............................................. 39.4 40.2

Supplemental data:
Property, plant and equipment expenditures . $ 304 $ 223

Number of employees. 23,500 24,300

Engine shipments:
Midrange.. 237,400 222,100
Heavy-duty. 85,000 107,300
High-horsepower.. 9,900 9,500
Total shipments . 332,300 338,900
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To the Shareholders:

1996 was a year in which our commitment First, in 1996 we moved into a period of
to a broader market and geographical heavy investment in our new product
revenue base began to pay off. Cummins development program, described later.
reported record revenues of $5.3 billion, Our product development investment is
despite a 27-percent drop in engine ship- expected to peak in 1997.
ments to the North American heavy-
duty truck market, reflecting a continuing Second, as revenues from the North
market slowdown which began in the American heavy-duty truck market went
second half of 1995. The decline in heavy- down, they were replaced by increased
duty revenues was more than offset by revenues in power generation and indus-
increased shipments to other markets, trial markets where margins are not at
particularly outside the U.S. In 1996, target levels and, therefore, do not fully
44 percent of Cummins' business was in offset lost margin in heavy-duty truck sales.
international markets, compared to 42 per-
cent in 1995 and 35 percent a decade ago . Third, in 1996 we continued to absorb

additional costs as a result of restructuring
Sales by Marketing Territory actions announced in the fourth quarter of

1996 1995. Our restructuring has included a
reduction in people, exiting several smaller

- businesses, consolidation of North
American parts centers, and the closure of
four plants. As staffing is reduced and facil-
ities are closed, we establish retraining and

- outplacement centers with the objective of
placing each of our people affected.

5656 7.r'.*
2% 5% Because we are shutting down these oper-

I United States 11 Canada ations in a way which does not pose hard-
~ Asia/Far East/Australia ~ Mexico/South America ship for our customers, the full impact of
11 Europe . Africa/Middle East the savings is not expected to be realized

until late 1997 and 1998. The savings are
Our revenues reflected an improved intended to help improve margins in mar-
balance by market in 1996. kets currently below target and to help

offset increased costs of new product devel-
Sales by Market opment in these peak years.

1996
12%~ 23% Five years of solid financial performance

and attention to our balance sheet have
placed us in a strong position, despite
increased capital expenditures for new
products. We closed 1996 with a debt-to-

16% capital ratio of 24 percent. This conserva-

would be able to afford capital investments
tive level was planned to assure that we

for new products and equity investments
I Heavy-duty truck ~ Power generation in business alliances, regardless of eco-
I Midrangetruck F Industrial nomic conditions we might encounter.
11 Bus and light I Filtration These investments are vital to meeting ourcommercial vehicles and other

customers' needs and pursuing new busi-
ness opportunities that support our long-

Financial Results term target of 10 percent annual growth.
In spite of the drop in the North American
heavy-duty market, Cummins was solidly We completed a 2.5-million-share repur-
profitable in 1996. Our operating earnings chase program during 1996 and acquired
were $214 million, $81 million lower than an additional 1.3 million shares in January
1995 earnings before a restructuring 1997. The number of shares outstanding
charge of $118 million, for three reasons. has been reduced by 3.8 million over a

two-and-one-half-year period, and we have

3 Cummins Engine Company



announced a program to repurchase an • The QUANTUM system features two new
additional 1.7 million shares over the next engine families as a result of our joint ven-
several years. ture with Wartsila Diesel International. The

Qsz family became available in limited
Over time, we intend to continue to use quantities in 1996 in a diesel version for
our strong balance sheet to benefit our power generation customers. The QSW
shareholders in four ways: investment in family will be introduced in both diesel and
product development and market oppor- natural gas versions in power generation
tunities to continue our tradition of applications in 1997. These new engine
internally-generated growth, strategic families will extend our product range to
acquisitions, a reduction in shares 4.5 megawatts.
outstanding and dividends.

• Beginning in 1997, we will release the first
New Product Development Program of the next generation of midrange and
In 1996, we moved into the most intensive heavy-duty engines incorporating elec-
phase of investment in our comprehensive tronic management and the latest technol-
new product development program, which ogy in air handling, combustion and
includes the improvement or replacement materials. These engines will provide auto-
of each of our current engines and the motive, industrial and power generation
development of two new fuel systems. customers with compact, lightweight pack-

ages for medium- and heavy-duty applica-
A vital part of these efforts is to build our tions from 130 to 600 horsepower and will
capability in Smart Power, which is the be known as the Interact System.
use of electronic controls, software and
information technology to enable our • Included in the Interact System are the
end-user customers to manage their busi- next-generation midrange B and C Series
nesses more efficiently. The computer on diesel engines featuring electronic controls
our engines enables us to bring far more and diagnostics, higher power ratings and
value to the customer than just clean, improved response. Our partnership with
reliable power. Case Corporation has been vital to the sue-

cessful development of these products,
Many of our product-development pro- which we believe are truly world leaders.
grams are being carried out with strategic
partners . In addition to helping defray • The Interact System also will include a new
expense and capital costs, this approach heavy-duty engine, to be announced in
improves our ability to understand mid-1997, which is expected to set new
customer needs around the world and to standards for horsepower, weight and per-
learn from other world-class technical formance. It will be available in 1998.
organizations.

• In 1996, we formed a joint venture with
Here is a brief summary of our progress: IVECO and New Holland to design and

manufacture a new generation of one-litre-
• The new QUANTUM system of high-horse- per-cylinder diesel engines with power out-

power engines for industrial, marine and puts ranging from 50 to 275 horsepower.
power generation markets continues to be
developed. The QSK 19 engine is already We are very excited about the potential for
available to our industrial customers and is these new products.
winning broad market acceptance. The
engine utilizes a new fuel system devel- Customer Led Quality
oped jointly with Scania, a leading We continue to pursue the five Customer
European integrated truck manufacturer in Led Quality objectives which drive our
Sweden. The QST 30, developed with business. They are:
Komatsu, was introduced in 1996. The
QSK 45 and QSK 60 will be introduced with First, we are committed to providing our
increased power in 1998 . customers with a comparative advantage

in each of our markets worldwide, mea-
sured in product performance, economic
value to the customer and all aspects of
customer support.
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This is the first and most important objec- To focus our efforts on serving customers
tive . Without comparative advantage, the throughout the world more efficiently and
other objectives are not possible over a effectively, we have reorganized the com-
sustained period of time. pany into four worldwide Business Units,

each headed by a seasoned Cummins
Comparative advantage is a customer manager with broad experience .
term. The customer compares the value
received from Cummins with that of other The Automotive Group includes trucks of
potential suppliers. Our goal is to gain and all sizes, from pickups to heavy-duty, as
keep customers for life. For us to do so, well as buses and recreational vehicles. It
customers must be able to count on us to is headed by Roberto Cordaro, who has
meet all of their product and support been with Cummins for 18 years.
needs over the long term. Our new product
development program is designed to meet The Power Generation Group includes
customers' future product needs in an Cummins engines for power generation,
environment of increasingly stringent Onan and Petbow generator sets and
emission requirements. Newage alternators. Over 70 percent of its

sales are in international markets. It is
Customer support is equally vital. We headed by Jack Edwards, who has been
maintain the most extensive distribution with Cummins for 24 years.
and service system for diesel engines in
the world, with 33 distributors operating The Industrial Group serves customers in
about 200 parts and service centers in worldwide construction, agricultural, min-
North America and an additional 110 dis- ing, marine, logging, rail and government
tributors in over 130 countries. markets. It is headed by Joe Loughrey,

who has been with Cummins for 23 years.
• In 1996, we consolidated North American

parts centers in Memphis, Tennessee, the The Filtration Group includes Fleetguard,
logistics hub for North America, enabling Inc., and its subsidiaries. Over 50 percent
us to offer next-day delivery of parts of its business is outside the United States.
throughout the United States. In addition It is headed by Dave Jones, who has been
to improving support for customers, this with Cummins for 26 years.
program, part of our restructuring, resulted
in significant efficiency gains. We firmly believe this business unit struc-

ture will enable us to be more responsive
• In partnership with our distributors in the to an increasingly diverse customer base,

United States and United Kingdom, we to pursue future growth opportunities, and
also have introduced programs designed to improve our financial performance
to provide sophisticated support 24 hours through more clearly defined responsibility
a day, 7 days a week to our customers to and accountability. Operating plans begin-
minimize their downtime and enable them ning in 1997 are the first formulated by
to meet the needs of their customers. business unit teams. Units will be mea-

sured on a comprehensive basis, including
We believe that improved customer sup- return on average net assets, responsive-
port offers Cummins and its customers ness to customers and growth.
sustained comparative advantage.

The third objective is to grow profitably at
The second objective is to achieve an aver- an average of 10 percent per year to
age of 15-percent return on equity over provide a superior total return to our share-
the economic cycle. This return is required holders. This also will permit us to meet
to sustain a comparative advantage in the objectives of all of our stakeholders.
each market in the future and to afford
investment in new business. For the past 20 years, Cummins has

averaged revenue growth of 10 percent
annually, ranking in the top 25 percent
of industrial companies. Our goal is to
continue that growth while improving
profitability.
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Net Sales Cummins is the worldwide diesel engine
Dollars in millions technology leader and remains the
5400 largest producer of diesel engines above
4800 200 horsepower and the second largest
4200 producer of diesel engines above 50 horse-
3600 power. We are, therefore, a logical partner

for companies around the world. We bring3000 our latest technology to our alliances, and
2400

1800 locally We select partners who are strong
1200 in their local markets; who know their cus-

600 ~ ||~ - we manufacture and purchase components

tomers, the local culture and business envi-
o ronment; and from whom we can learn.

1987 '88 '89 '90 '91 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96
~ International 1995 Worldwide 50 HP+ DieselI United States

Engine Production by Manufacturer
Much of our growth is expected to be out- 11 1

Cummins
side the United States. Worldwide require- 3 12**~ 362

4ments for power continue to grow rapidly, 5
6both in size and variety of application. 7 274

Diesel technology offers advantages to 8
9 1 ,7both developed and developing countries. 10

11 1 ,It can generate electrical power. It provides 12 1 1
13power for construction equipment to build 14

roads and other elements of the infrastruc- 15
16 1 147

ture and, of course, for transportation. 17 138
18 1 1
19 ~95
20 I 81The expansion of our product line has

coincided with the desire of many countries 0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700
Units in thousandsto improve the quality of life and employ- Source: Rhein & Associates

ment opportunities for their citizens. They
want to attract foreign investment, which Key business alliances have enabled us to
means lowering trade barriers and com- take our current product line and extend
peting with world leaders. In many cases, our customer base geographically.
this means finding partners. Agreements reached in 1996 included:

1995 Worldwide 200 HP+ Diesel • An expansion of our license agreement
Engine Production by Manufacturer with Dongfeng Motors into a joint venture
Cummins to produce C Series engines. Dongfeng is2
3 110 the largest truck producer in China and has
4 , produced B Series engines under license
61 since 1987.
8 i
9 149

10 46 • A license agreement with PT Perkasa
11 40
12 1 Heavyndo of Indonesia, a subsidiary of the

Texmaco Group, one of the largest textile14 ' 1
15 and engineering companies in Indonesia.16 I 29
17 - 16 Under the agreement, PT Perkasa will man-
18 -15
19 11111 ufacture B Series engines for the
20 I 6 Association of Southeast Asian Nations

0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 (ASEAN) automotive market.
Units in thousands

Source: Rhein & Associates
• Wuxi Newage, a joint venture with Jiangsu

Hai Xing Electrical Machinery Group
(HXEM), to manufacture alternators in China.
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Other key geographically-based alliances partners and our own people in all the
continued to make progress in 1996. They countries in which we do business to be
include: able to believe us, trust us and count on

us. To help our people understand what is
• our joint venture with Kirloskar, which expected of them, we developed a

has provided power for the Indian market Cummins Code of Business Conduct,
since 1962; pulling together many of the ethics guide-

lines in place for many years. The code
• our joint venture with Tata Engine and was adopted by the Board of Directors in

Locomotive Co. Ltd. CTELCO), the largest 1995 and has been produced in eight lan-
vehicle manufacturer in India, to provide guages. Training sessions for all our people
B Series engines for India's truck market; are now being conducted.

• our joint venture with China National Responsible citizenship also means helping
Heavy-duty Truck Corporation for manufac- improve local communities. Cummins
ture of the N14, K19, KV, L10 and Mll people worldwide have responded, con-
engines for high-horsepower and heavy- tributing money, time and energy to help
duty applications in China; others. A sampling of projects follows:

• our license agreement in Turkey with BMC • In Memphis, Tennessee, Diesel ReCon
Sanayi, which launched a new vehicle fam- employees have focused on education
ily in 1996 powered exclusively by our through support for an elementary school,
B and C Series engines. a day-care center and the LeMoyne-Owen

College. Employees donated to the college's
The fourth objective is to demonstrate a capital campaign and worked to establish
commitment to help improve the commu- a Cummins Center for Faculty and Instruc-
nities in which we operate and to be tional Development at the college , funded
responsible citizens of society. by a donation from the Cummins Engine

Foundation. Funding from the foundation
We have long believed it is in our self inter- also is supporting a multicultural learning
est to be concerned about the society in partnership between LeMoyne-Owen and
which we do business. For Cummins, the Bartholomew Consolidated School
responsible citizenship goes beyond legal Corp. in Columbus, Indiana.
requirements to doing what is right. This
core belief continues to drive our work on • In San Luis Potosi, Mexico, building on the
emissions, our standards for conducting successful engagement of employees in
business, and our involvement in improv- the 1995 Special Olympics, a local Cummins
ing the communities where our people live Engine Foundation has been established.
and work. Projects include support of a school for the

blind and work with the community to
Since the early 1970's, Cummins has con- identify employment opportunities for
tributed to the regulation process which future graduates.
sets standards to achieve a clean and
healthy environment. We invest heavily in • In Pune, India, our joint venture Kirloskar
technology to control emissions, and we Cummins Ltd. (KCL) continues to expand its
continue to build on our leadership posi- involvement on a number of fronts. The
tion in the use of alternative fuels, particu- Cummins College of Engineering for
larly natural gas. By the end of 1996, Women has graduated 318 engineers in
Cummins' production of natural gas the last two years. In addition, 1,000 family
engines totaled more than 1,600. These members of KCL employees are enrolled in
engines are in use throughout the United a network of 39 Family Circles designed to
States and Canada and have been intro- help them broaden their knowledge base,
duced in the United Kingdom. In addition, build skills and become more independent.
we are seeing increased interest in natural To stimulate concern for the environment
gas engines in other markets worldwide. among students at an early age, KCL has

conducted environmental workshops for
- One of our core operating principles is teachers and established 17 nature clubs

integrity We want our customers, suppliers, with over 1,100 student members.
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The final Customer Led Quality objective is economy which is growing at a modest
to attract, train, challenge and fully utilize pace with manageable inflationary pres-
outstanding and diverse people at all levels sures . It is the kind of environment
in order to achieve our objectives. in which manufacturing companies can

invest in product development programs
We believe the company that will be best and improve continuously for their cus-
prepared for the future is the one whose tomers.
people feel responsibility to act quickly for
the customer. If this favorable environment is main-

tained, we expect to continue to invest
To achieve this objective we invest in our aggressively to meet the future needs of
people so they have the capability and customers throughout the world while also
responsibility to anticipate customer improving our financial results.
requirements and meet them.

We thank you for your support and hope
We were pleased when Cummins was you will be able to join us at our Annual
singled out with a handful of other compa Shareholders' Meeting on April 1 in
nies by President Clinton to participate Columbus, Indiana.
in the President's Conference on Corporate
Citizenship last year because of "exem-
plary efforts with our employees."

k I

The involvement of each of our employees
in improvement work for the customer James A. Henderson

Chairman and Chief Executive Officercontinues to be an important objective.

Outlook
The world can change so rapidly that it is / 1*4 0420difficult to look ahead more than a few Theodore M. Solso
quarters with confidence. As this letter is President and Chief Operating Officer
written, however, economic conditions
worldwide appear favorable, led by a U.S. Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

March 1, 1997

' lit 1
1 1 5.,A 1

1- '11M 9 al
61 1  *r

1 M I .
Chairman Jimfi Henderson (left) and, I

. • 3% President Tim SolsoI' ,14  » ·~ 11 0 stand in the Cummins
headquarters lobby. .40 nearthe "exploded"I ~81'

 NT, an engine whose* *..0 i continually evolving-t

technology provides
h leading performance

2. -  for Cummins' cus-
tomers worldwide.
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Irwin Miller
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Irwin Miller has requested that he not be I had the good fortune to work directly for
nominated for re-election to the Cummins Irwin when I first came to Cummins. I soon
Board of Directors at the 1997 annual learned he thinks first as a concerned citi-
meeting. Reluctantly, we have agreed to zen of the world and that gives him a
his request. He has served on the Cummins perspective that is different from many
Board since 1935, except for a leave of businessmen. It is what has led him to be
absence during World War 11 to serve as an among the first to address the problems of
officer in the U.S. Navy aboard the aircraft injustice in society and to insist upon the
carrier U.S.S. Lang/ey. He led the Board as importance of Cummins' being a respon-
Chairman for 26 years. sible corporate citizen.

Fortunately, Irwin has assured me that his I also learned that while he is personally
active interest and involvement in the com- modest and soft-spoken, and has a warm
pany and its people will continue as strong sense of humor, he is an intense competi-
as ever. No one else has his depth of expe- tor with a burning desire to see Cummins
rience and understanding about this com- as the very best at meeting every cus-
pany. When he arrived as General Manager tomer's needs and a firm belief that we can
in 1934, the company had lost money for and will do so. He is proud of the accom-
all of its 15 years. It shipped 301 engines plishments of each of us.
that year, with sales revenues of $600,000
and 60 employees. He brought a strong Irwin is the reason many of us came to
interest in each person in the company, as Cummins. His example of personal and
well as management ability and a vision of corporate responsibility and integrity, and
the future to complement the entrepre- his insistence on very high standards
neurial instincts and inventive skills of and doing what is right in all situations,
Clessie Cummins. while successfully competing with the

world's best, has given us confidence it can
Irwin led the company until 1977, by which be done.
time revenues had reached $1.26 billion
with profits of $67 million. He has contin- I am pleased to report that his colleagues
ued to serve it ably as a director through on the Board of Directors have named him
difficult and prosperous times. At a panic- Honorary Chairman and that he will con-
ularly difficult moment in the company's tinue to help, encourage and, yes, occa-
history, long after his retirement as an offi- sionally prod us in his new role.
cer, he reinvested in the company, along
with his sister, based on his belief in its - CY.Ow~
long-term prospects. I

Jim Henderson
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Cummins' Worldwide Business

Cummins reorganized its businesses last year into four mar-
ket groups-automotive, power generation, industrial and
filtration-in an effort to better focus its efforts on serving
the customer.

This new organization is enabling Cummins to be more responsive
to its customers, accelerate pursuit of growth opportunities and
achieve improved cost effectiveness.

The Automotive Group includes heavy-duty and midrange trucks,
as well as bus and light commercial vehicles.

Net Sales Markets and Products

Automotive Group Cummins' share of the North American heavy-duty truck market
has held steady at 35 percent and the company has been the

Heavy-duty Truck leader in this market for nearly a quarter century. Cummins' share
of the heavy-duty truck market is growing outside the United States
as well.

Growth will be realized by providing customers complete business
solutions through products, information and support tailored to

- their needs and effective utilization of electronic controls and infor-I.

m ati onmanageme nt.
1996 1995 Products include a full range of 260- to 525-horsepower diesel(SM) $1,261 $1,550

(%) 24 30 engines with the popular L1O, the advanced M11 Plus and the per-
formance leader N14 Plus, as well as the natural gas L10.
After only four years in the North American midrange diesel truck
market, Cummins has a 31-percent share.

Midrange Truck
Cummins has a strong and growing share of this market in other
countries, including Turkey, Mexico, Brazil, India and China.

11% Cummins is pursuing growth in this market by offering the most
, reliable, cost-effective power which meets the unique needs of

midrange and intercity delivery truck customers.

Products include a full range of 120- to 300-horsepower with the1996 1995 proven 83.9, 85.9 and C8.3 engines.($M) $587 $607
(%) 11 11

Cummins is the exclusive diesel power in the increasingly popular
Bus and Light Dodge Ram pickup truck, which now enjoys a 38-percent share of
Commercial Vehicles the U.S. diesel three-quarter-ton and one-ton pickup market. The

company also has a growing share of the various bus markets
4:r. worldwide.

< 12% The growth of the pickup truck market and increasing acceptance of
natural gas engines for buses are providing opportunities for
Cummins.

Products include a full range of 130- to 300-horsepower B and C1996 1995- Series diesel engines as well as natural gas engines ranging from(SM) $599 $53212 10 150 to 300 horsepower.
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The Power Generation Group includes Cummins engines, Onan and
Petbow generator sets and Newage alternators.

The Industrial Group includes construction, logging, mining, agri-
cultural, marine, rail and government markets.

The Filtration Group, through the Fleetguard subsidiary, provides a
broad line of filtration products.

Net Sales Markets and Products

Power Generation Cummins has a growing share of a number of its key markets
Group including recreational vehicles, as well as various overseas markets.

Growth is occurring in a number of areas, particularly in the Far
East, which enjoyed an increase of 20 percent in the past year. This
growth is the result of Cummins' ability to offer a comprehensive
line of power generating equipment and its alliances with global
partners, such as Wartsila of Finland and Wuxi of China.

Products include the complete line of equipment from 20 kilowatts
to 4.5 megawatts including the QUANTUM range, Onan and Petbow

1996 1995 generator sets and switches, and Newage alternators.
($M) $1,213 $1,092
(%) 23 21

Industrial Group Cummins holds a strong share in a number of industrial markets.

The company enjoys a 14-percent share of the construction equip-
ment market, more than 8 percent of the agricultural market and
9 percent of the worldwide marine market.

.r. . C . 16% Growth is expected through a continued broadening of the product
line, providing best-in-class customer support, offering customers

- the lowest operating cost and pursuing global markets.

Products include the entire engine line from 76 to 6,000 horse-
1996 1995 power.

($M) $863 $776
(%) 16 15

Filtration Group Fleetguard has grown rapidly and is a major player in the
and Other $12 billion global filtration market. Its share of each of its markets

has been increasing and currently is 15 percent of the worldwide
heavy-duty engine market.

- Continued growth is expected, particularly as Fleetguard continues
4~ 14% to expand internationally and move into new filtration markets.

Products include filters for heavy-duty engines, hydraulic fluids and
air, as well as industrial and specialty filters.

Holset is Cummins' subsidiary which designs and produces turbo-
1996 1995 Itchargers and other components for all of the company's markets.

($M) $734 $688
(%) 14 13 continues to expand globally and to develop alliances with strategic

partners.
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"A strong focus on the customer, ./1 T'r¥'* ,£ Alintroduction of the /nteract System of k.. ¥3 ,technologies, products and services,
coupled with close relationships with
equipment manufacturers who are
leaders in their markets, position the
Automotive Group for continued
profitable growth."

C. Roberto Cordaro
Executive Vice
President,
Group President-
Automotive

Automotive Group IVECO and New Holland to design and man-
The Automotive Group reported another ufacture the next generation 4-, 5- and 6-litre
strong year in 1996 as a result of its product engines based on the successful B Series.
leadership in world markets. Cummins con-
tinues to make investments which should In Mexico, the economy began to recover
maintain its leadership position throughout and Cummins' share of the heavy-duty
the heavy- and medium-truck power range market continued strong at 69 percent.
of 120 to 525 horsepower with its B, C, L, M Cummins' position in the Brazilian midrange
and N Series products. The upcoming new market was solid with its two partners, Ford
platforms, termed the Interact System of and Volkswagen , and the company partici -
engines, will grow the power coverage and pated in VW's innovative manufacturing
provide dynamic power that is truly inter- plant as a partner supplier. In Turkey,
active with driver, business and environ- Cummins' market-leading partner, BMC
mental needs. Sanayi, launched a new vehicle family, the

Professional series, powered exclusively by
Market share gains are anticipated as major the "Eurol and 2" B and C Series. Sales
new product lines are launched over the were up 65 percent over 1995.
next two years, as existing partnerships in
Europe, China and India are developed, and A license agreement was signed late last
as new alliances are formed. year with PT Perkasa Heavyndo of Indonesia

to produce the B Series, primarily for the
The company's leadership in the North ASEAN automotive market. Chinese opera-
American heavy-duty market continued for tions at Dongfeng were expanded from the
the 24th consecutive year. The market did license of the B Series to include a joint
soften, as expected, down 23 percent from venture for the C Series. Cummins' busi-
the 1995 record to 176,000 units. Cummins' ness remains very strong in China with
products are performing better than ever great potential through the Dongfeng agree-
and the focus on customer satisfaction and ments and direct imports. The automotive
superior value is paying off as its share held market in India continues to grow, and
steady at 35 percent. Cummins' joint venture with the truck market

leader, Tata, is now producing the B Series.
In the North American distribution channel,
Cummins implemented QUICKSERVE, a guar- Bus and light commercial vehicle markets
anteed diagnostics and service program to continued their growth in 1996. These mar-
minimize downtime, providing customers kets now comprise nearly 24 percent of the
with significant comparative advantage. Automotive Group's sales. Cummins' first

member of the Interact System-\S8275-
Shipments of midrange engines to the is being introduced initially into the recre-
North American medium-duty diesel truck ational vehicle market. Cummins sold
market remained very strong at 49,200 72,300 engines for the Dodge Ram, which
units. Market share and the overall market enjoyed increased levels of customer accep-
size were down from record 1995 levels. tance. Demand for alternate-fueled products
Cummins has a 31-percent share after only for transit bus markets continues. Natural
four years of participation in this market, gas comprises one-third of Cummins'
and remains the diesel engine of choice at transit bus volume. In the U.K. bus market, The low operatingFord, Freightliner and PACCAR. Cummins' share remains strong due to its cost of the B Series

successful partnership with Dennis S.V. Eur02 engine makes
In Europe, electronic "Eur02" engines were Cummins continues to develop this market it a popular choice

for vehicles acrossintroduced and the Mll became the indus- worldwide, particularly in Mexico and Asia.
Europe, such as thistry leader in its class for fuel economy. A Sales to the school bus market continued DAF Leyland urbanjoint venture was announced in 1996 with strong during 1996. delivery truck.
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"The opportunity for growth in the . 1. 'F//Power Generation Group is high and 1. 1 - lA. 1Cummins, with its comprehensive
product line and global presence, is
positioning itself to capture that
potential."

John K. Edwards
Executive Vice
President,
Group President-
Power Generation
and International

Power Generation Group capability and state-of-the-art electronic
1996 was an exciting year of progress for controls. These new products will solidify
Cummins' Power Generation business. its reputation for advanced technology,
Sales of power generation products- reliability and durability.
Cummins engines, Onan and Petbow gen-
erator sets and Newage alternators-grew Cummins' joint venture with Wartsila to
to $1.2 billion. Sales growth exceeding produce high-horsepower engines is
20 percent in the Far East more than offset proceeding on schedule. The QSZ family of
a weaker North American standby genera- products was introduced this year with
tor set market. Cummins is beginning to initial deliveries in Europe and Asia. The
realize the benefits of its continuing efforts QSW family will be introduced in 1997.
to better serve the rapidly expanding Far These products will provide clear life-cycle
East markets. cost advantages to the rapidly expanding

prime power markets above 1 megawatt.
Power Generation Sales Over the past decade, the worldwide
Dollars in millions power generation market has been grow-
1350 ing at almost 6 percent annually, but the
1200 segment above 1 megawatt has been

growing at 25 to 30 percent annually. To1050
maximize this growth potential, an interna-900
tional cross-functional introduction team750 has been formed to focus on executing a

600 - successful worldwide launch and rapidly
450

300

150 - The mobile business group of Onan Corp.,

- attaining market share

o a Cummins subsidiary, provides generator
1991 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96 sets and gasoline engines to a variety of

The creation of Power Generation as a sep- markets. In 1996, the market for recre-
arate business unit was a key strategic ini- ational vehicle generators was particularly
tiative. Power Generation began as strong and Onan continues to enjoy a high
a distribution channel for Cummins market share. Onan also introduced the
engines, but the goal now is to become the new "Quiet Diesel, a variable speed gen-
leading global power systems supplier. The erator set. This product offers reduced
restructuring transformed Power noise and less vibration, and exemplifies
Generation from Cummins' second largest Onan's commanding leadership in product
market to an autonomous business, technology.
intensely focused on providing compara-
tive advantage. The group has divested its Newage, another Cummins subsidiary, is
ancillary operations and is aligning its core the world's leading manufacturer of alter-
competencies into a unified value-added nators in its product range, and its global
power supplier. presence continues to expand. During

1996, plans were initiated to triple manu- A bank of eight
Together with its partners-Wartsila, facturing capacity at its existing joint Cummins/Onan gen-

erator sets recentlyKirloskar and Komatsu-the Power Gene- venture in India, and a new joint venture installed at Atlanta'sration Group will soon offer a comprehen- agreement was completed in China. Pro- Hartsfield Airport
sive product line from 20 kilowatts to 4.5 duction of Newage alternators in China will provide its new
megawatts. Over the next few years, it will commence in the first half of 1997. International Con-

course power duringintroduce new products across this range
periods of highwith increased power density, natural gas demand and also
standby power.
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"Cummins' Industrial Group continues to
experience significant growth due to its . . - -
broad product offering, its partnerships
with leading global manufacturers and a ..61strong distribution system worldwide."

F. Joseph Loughrey
Executive Vice
President,
Group President-
Industrial

Industrial Group world mining markets with competitive
A strong global economy in 1996, combined operating costs and superior levels of
with heightened acceptance of Cummins- reliability, durability and life-to-overhaul
powered products, generated an 11 per- compared to the competition.
cent increase in engine and parts sales and
a record year for the Industrial Group. As equipment owners demand more

sophisticated equipment, electronic sys-
Sales of 77,800 engines to the construe- tems controls have become a critical factor
tion, agricultural, mining, marine and rail in maximizing performance and productiv-
markets exceeded the 1995 record by ity. Cummins' development of electronic
9 percent. Continued growth was achieved engine control technology and information
in North America, the South Pacific, and systems offers a unique opportunity to
South and Central America, as well as assist equipment manufacturers in the
in construction, agricultural and mining design and development of customized
markets. electronic systems and controls. Cummins'

close working relationships with partners
Industrial Sales by Product like Case and Komatsu offer end users a

1991 1996 unique combination of talent and technolo-
~50/0 gies to better meet their needs .< r.504 Marine shipments grew approximately

30 percent in 1996 over the 1995 level, and
were nearly 70 percent higher than 1993.

34%
41% Sales growth in the recreational market

resulted from continued strong customer
21% acceptance of several new models in the

Diamond Performance Series.
~ Midrange 11 Heavy duty ~ High horsepower

Cummins Marine continued to be the
Notable growth also was recorded in number one volume supplier of diesel
Europe with new account acquisitions and engines to the North American recreational
in China's emerging construction segment. marine market.

During the first full year of U.S. emissions Commercial marine sales grew dramati-
standards for industrial engines, Cummins' cally as a result of strong worldwide accep
comprehensive line-up of engines rang- tance of the K/KV engine series, which was
ing from 76 to 6,000 horsepower continued uprated in 1995, and addition of several
to make strong advances. Leading the way new KV models in 1996.
were the 26 new midrange engine ratings
for these markets as well as new products Cummins' joint venture with Wartsila to
with electronics for heavy-duty and high- develop and manufacture the QSW/Z
horsepower applications. product will greatly expand marine product

offerings to 6,000 horsepower, signifi-
The QUANTUM series of engines, initiated cantly above the 1,800 horsepower avail-
with the launch of the QSK19 in 1995, was able today. The QUANTUM Series

QSK45 and QSK60enhanced in late 1996 with announcement engines, announced
to the global mining market of two new late last year to the
products, the QSK45 and QSK60. The global mining market,
Cummins K200OE 50-litre engine continues will provide reliable

power for rear dumpto set new standards of performance in trucks and other
equipment.

16 1996 Annual Report





ir

"The Filtration business has grown
15 percent annually for more than two
decades, and growth is expected to
continue as exciting new services and
technically-advanced products are intro-
duced to customers around the world."

M. David Jones
Vice President-
Filtration Group
and President-
Fleetguard, Inc.

Filtration Group Fleetguard's international expansion con-
Cummins' success in filtration has been tinued on schedule with the opening of a
built on a foundation of working closely state-of-the-art manufacturing facility in
with customers-equipment manufactur- Shanghai, a joint venture with Shenlong
ers, distribution partners, and end users- Auto Accessories Corporation. It is the
to provide innovative solutions to their largest, most modern filter plant in China
most pressing filtration needs. Engineers today. Fleetguard India continued to grow
apply new filtration technology to develop with the addition of new customers and
products that maximize equipment up-time products. A new distribution center in
and minimize total cost of operation. South Africa performed well in its first year.
Customer support teams continuously look
for new ways to provide value-added ser- Fleetguard's subsidiary companies-Kuss
vices. And the company's broad interna- Corporation (specialty filtration), Separation
tional scope provides the capability to Technologies (industrial hydraulic filtration)
support customers around the world. and Lubricon (fluid analysis laboratories)

-continued to expand their businesses
Fleetguard, Cummins' filtration company, with aggressive growth strategies in both
initially focused on heavy-duty engine fil- domestic and international markets.

' tration for Cummins. However, sales for
products made by customers other than In 1996, Fleetguard's new StrataPore media
Cummins now constitute two-thirds of won the prestigious American Filtration &
Fleetguard's total sales. While there are a Separations Society Award for Innovative
few larger filtration companies around the New Technology. This new media offers
world, a significant portion of their sales finer and more precise filtration, greater
come from either passenger car or non- capacity for longer life applications and
vehicle markets. Fleetguard is now the improved environmental benefits. The new
leading heavy-duty engine filtration com- extended service ES System program for
pany in the world. antifreeze and diesel coolant products was

developed to address the increasing need
Fleetguard International Sales for longer service intervals and lower
as a Percent of Total maintenance costs.
Percent

72 Multilingual capabilities were added to the
64 Customer Assistance Centers throughout
56 the organization, and Fleetguard intro-

duced its web site with 24-hour electronic48
coverage and same day rapid response to40

tomerb native language
all customer inquiries returned in the cus-

32

24

16 Commitment to quality has long been an
8 operating principle at Fleetguard, which
o has received quality certifications from

1987 '88 '89 '90 '91 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96 Navistar, Case, John Deere, Ford, DAF and The StrataPore media,
first used to protectFleetguard once again performed well in Scania as well as ISO 9000 certification at electronic fuel sys-1996. U.S. and international markets were six facilities around the world and QS 9000 tems, has undergone

strong despite a slowdown in the in two U.S. plants. strenuous testing and
European and Brazilian economies. Over is now being expanded
50 percent of 1996 sales were outside the to all applications

where filtration of fineUnited States. particles and long life
are critical.
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Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Results of Operations and
Financial Condition

Overview Results of Operations
In 1996, the company had record sales of The percentage relationship between net
$5.3 billion, $12 million higherthan 1995 sales and other elements of the company's
and 11 percent higher than 1994. This rec- Consolidated Statement of Earningsfor each
ord performance was achieved despite a of the last three years was:
27-percent reduction in engine shipments to
the North American heavy-duty truck market Percent of net sales 1996 1995 1994

as a result of the slowdown in that market. Net sales 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of goods sold. 77.5 75.8 75.0
Gross profit.. 22.5 24.2 25.0The company shipped 332,300 engines in
Selling and administrative1996, compared to 338,900 in 1995 and expenses. 13.8 13.2 13.5304,300 in 1994 as follows: Research and engineering

expenses. 4.8 5.0 5.0Engineshipments 1996 1995 1994
Netexpense (income)

Midrange. 237,400 222,100 195,600 of joint ventures
Heavy-duty . 85,000 107,300 99,900 and alliances . - - (.1)
High-horsepower. 9,900 9,500 8,800 .3 .2 .4Interest expense..
Total shipments . . 332,300 9%909 394,300 Other (income) expense, net. (.5) .2 -

Restructuring charges. - 2.2 -
Earnings before

Engine Shipments income taxes 4.1 3.4 6.2
Units in thousands Provision (credit) for
315 incometaxes. 1.1 (.9) .9
280

245

~ ~~- The companyt sales for each of its key

Netearnings 3.0 4.3 5.3

210 Sales by Market175 ill 41, ~1:: markets during the last three years were:140

105 Dollars in millions 1996 1995 1994
70

35 Heavy-duty truck.. .$1,261 $1,550 $1,483
11- < Automotive:

O  Midrange truck . 587 607 500
1987 '88'89 '90 '91 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96 Busand light com-
~ High-horsepower mercial vehicles 599 532 469
~ Heavy-duty Powergeneration.. 1,213 1,092 980

Midrange Industrial. 863 776 686
Filtration and other.. .. 734 688 619Net earnings were $160 million, or $4.01 per - - -Net sales., $5,257 $5,245 $4,737

share, in 1996. Net earnings were $224 mil-
lion , or $5 . 52 per share, in 1995 and Automotive
$253 million, or $6.11 per share, in 1994. Sales to the heavy-duty truck market were

almost 20 percent lower than in 1995 and
15 percent lower than 1994. The lower level
of sales in 1996 was due to a decline in
demand for the North American heavy-duty
truck market. In 1996, factory retail sales of
heavy-duty trucks in North America were
23 percent lower than the previous year's
level. This lower market size resulted in the
company's lower level of engine shipments
in North America. Cummins continued to
lead this market, however, with a market
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share of 35 percent in 1996. The company's strong demand for the company's engines
market share was 35 percent in 1995 and in marine applications worldwide in 1996,
34 percent in 1994. In the fourth quarter of almost 30 percent above 1995 and 55 per-
1996, the North American market was cent higher than 1994.
stronger, indicating it may be reaching the
bottom of the current down cycle . Filtration and Other

Sales of $734 million in 1996 for filtration
International engine shipments for heavy- and other products were 7 percent higher
duty trucks were 14 percent lower than in than 1995 and 19 percent higherthan 1994.
1995 and 49 percent below 1994. The decline The increase in sales during 1996 was due
in engine shipments in 1996 was due primarily to strong demand in international
primarily to lower demand in European markets.
markets. However, in the fourth quarter, cer-
tain international markets showed signs of Gross Profit
improvement, particularly in Mexico. The company's gross profit percentage was

22.5 percent of net sales in 1996, compared
Sales of engines for the midrangetruck mar- to 24.2 percent in 1995 and 25.0 percent
ket in 1996 were 3 percent lower than 1995 in 1994.
and 17 percent higher than in 1994. Overall,
there was a decrease in demand for The company's gross profit was affected by
medium-duty trucks in North America dur- several factors in 1996, the most significant
ing 1996, which caused a 3-percent decline of which was the decline in heavy-duty
in the company's engine shipments in North engine production that resulted in lower
America. Midrange engines for international fixed cost absorption. Gross profit also was
markets were 7 percent higher than in 1995 affected by the softer market for midrange
and 16 percent higher than 1994, primarily truck engines, higher sales of lower margin
in Brazil and Mexico. power generation products, and costs asso-

ciated with the restructuring actions and
In the bus and light commercial vehicles new product introductions. While restructur-
market, sales were 13 percent higher than ing activities are proceeding, as reflected by
1995 and 28 percent higherthan 1994. The gains on disposals of certain operations in
increase in 1996 was due to record demand "other income," expenses associated with
for the company's midrange engines in the implementation of certain of these actions
Dodge Ram pickup truck, which was 13 per- adversely affected gross profit. As disclosed
cent above 1995 . in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, the company has entered into
Power Generation commodity swap contracts that have the
Sales of power generation represented effect of fixing the cost of certain material
23 percent of the company's net sales in purchases.
1996. Record sales of $1.2 billion in 1996
were $121 million higher, an 11-percent The cost of product coverage programs was
increase compared to 1995, and $233 mil- 2.7 percent of net sales in 1996, compared to
lion, or 23 percent higher, than 1994. The 2.4 percent of net sales in 1995 and 2.3 per-
increase in sales in 1996 was due to a cent of net sales in 1994.
20-percent increase in international markets
reflecting strong demand in China, India Operating Expenses
and Southeast Asia. Selling and administrative expenses were

$725 million (13.8 percent of net sales) in
Industrial 1996, compared to $692 million ( 13. 2 per-
Record sales of $863 million to industrial cent of net sales) in 1995 and $641 million
markets were 11 percent higher than 1995 (13.5 percent of net sales) in 1994. In 1996,
and 26 percent higher than 1994. The expenditures associated with the restructur-
increase in sales in 1996 was primarily due ing actions, marketing programs and new
to strong demand for construction applica- product launches offset the decrease in
tions in both North American and inter- salaries and wages as a result of headcount
national markets. In addition, there was reductions.
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Research and engineering expenses of The company reduced its valuation allowance
$252 million in 1996 were 4.8 percent of net for tax benefit carryforwards $68 million
sales, compared to $263 million in 1995 and in 1995 and $32 million in 1994. The tax pro-
$238 million in 1994, both of which were vision for 1995 also included a credit of
5.0 percent of net sales. $35 million for additional tax benefits related

to the amendment of prior years' returns.
Research and Engineering Expenses
Dollars in millions Cash Flow and Financial Condition

270 Key elements of the Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows were.240

210 Dollars in millions 1996 1995 1994
180 Net cash provided by
150 operating activities.. $ 193 $ 406 $ 376
120 Netcash used in

90 investing activities . (259) (373) (261)
Net cash (used in) pro-Illi~l vided by operating and

30 investing activities . (66) 33 115
0 Net cash provided from1987 '88 '89 '90 '91 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96 fused for) financing

activities . 110 (121) (50)
In 1996, the company's share of start-up Effect of exchange rate
losses of its joint venture with Wartsila were changeson cash 415
offset by earnings from Kirloskar Cummins, Netchange in cash and

cash equivalents. $ 48 $ (87) $ 70due to strong demand in its markets.
During 1996, net cash used in operating andOther Income and Expense investing activities was $66 million. TheInterest expense of $18 million was $5 mil- lower level of net cash provided by operat-lion higherthan 1995 due to the higher level ing activities was due to net cash require-of borrowings. In 1996, other income of ments for the restructuring activities,$24 million was due to interest income and including increased inventories at certaingains on the disposal of certain operations locations, and an increase in accountsand businesses associated with the restruc- receivable. In the second quarter of 1996, anturing actions. agreement for the sale of up to $110 million
of accounts receivable was not renewed byRestructuring Charges the company, which resulted in the increaseAs disclosed in Note 2 to the Consolidated in receivables. Capital expenditures duringFinancial Statements, results of operations 1996 were $304 million, compared toin 1995 included restructuring charges of $223 million in 1995 and $238 million in$118 million ($77 million after taxes) for 1994. The increased level of expenditures incosts to consolidate operations and reduce 1996 was related to continued investmentsthe worldwide work force. Approximately for new products. The company expects2,300 employees have separated from the a significant increase in these expenditurescompany as a result of the actions. in 1997, some of which may be funded
externally.Provision for Income Taxes

The company's income tax provision in 1996 Investments in joint ventures and allianceswas $54 million, an effective tax rate of of $5 million reflected the net effect of25 percent, reflecting tax breaks on export repayment of temporary advances tosales and $6 million for reinstatement of the Consolidated Diesel at the end of 1995 andresearch tax credit in the second half of capital contributions of $50 million during1996. Tax provisions of the Small Business 1996, primarily to the company's joint venJob Protection Act that was signed into law ture with Wartsila. The company expects toin August 1996 included reinstatement of continue to make investments in certain ofthis credit for an 11-month period, beginning its joint ventures during 1997.July 1, 1996.
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Net cash provided from financing activities similar expressions are intended to identify
was $110 million in 1996. As disclosed in such forward-looking statements. These
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial statements are not guarantees of future per-
Statements, the company issued commer- formance and involve certain risks, uncer
cial paper in 1996 to replace a financing tainties and assumptions ("Future Factors")
arrangement whereby receivables were pre- which are difficult to predict. Therefore,
viously sold without recourse. A subsidiary actual outcomes and results may differ
of the company also issued notes in 1996, materially from what is expressed or fore-
which resulted in net proceeds of $100 mil- casted in such forward-looking statements.
lion. In February 1997, the company issued Cummins undertakes no obligation to
$120 million in debentures under its shelf update publicly any forward-looking state-
registration statement. ments, whether as a result of new informa-

tion, future events or otherwise.
As disclosed in Note 9to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, the company com- Future Factors include increasing price and
pleted a program begun in 1994 to repur- product competition by foreign and domes-
chase 2.5 million shares of its common tic competitors, including new entrants; rapid
stock. In January 1997, the company repur- technological developments and changes;
chased 1.3 million shares of its common the ability to continue to introduce competi-
stock from Ford Motor Company and was tive new products on a timely, cost effective
authorized by the Board of Directors to basis; the mix of products; the achievement
repurchase an additional 1.7 million shares of lower costs and expenses; domestic and
in the open market. In January 1997, the foreign governmental and public policy
company also announced that it will issue changes, including environmental regula-
3.75 million shares of its common stock to tions; protection and validity of patent and
an employee benefits trust. - other intellectual property rights; reliance on

large customers; technological, implementa-
Total Capitalization tion and cost/financial risks in increasing use
Dollars in millions of large, multi-year contracts; the cyclical
1800 nature of Cummins' business; the outcome
1600 of pending and future litigation and govern-
1400 mental proceedings and continued availabil-
1200 ity of financing, financial instruments and000 11!1110 financial resources in the amounts, at the

800 Cummins' future business.
600

400

times and on the terms required to support

These are representative of the Future
200 Factors that could affect the outcome of the

0 forward-looking statements. In addition,
1987 '88 '89 '90 '91 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96 such statements could be affected by gen-

11 Long-and short-term debt
~ Preferred and preference stock eral industry and market conditions and
I Common shareholders' investment growth rates, general domestic and interna-

tional economic conditions, including inter-
Forward-looking Statements est rate and currency exchange rate
This Management's Discussion and Analysis fluctuations, and other Future Factors.
of Results of Operations and Financial
Condition, and other sections of this annual
report, contain forward-looking statements
that are based on current expectations, esti-

~ mates and projections about the industries
in which Cummins operates, management's
beliefs and assumptions made by manage-
ment. Words, such as "expects," "antici-
pates," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks,"
"estimates," variations of such words and
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Consolidated Statement of Earnings
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Millions, except per share amounts 1996 1995 1994

Net sales $5,257 $5,245 $4,737
Cost of goods sold.. 4,072 3,974 3,551
G ross profit. 1,185 1,271 1,186
Selling and administrative expenses.. 725 692 641
Research and engineering expenses.. 252 263 238
Net expense(income) ofjoint venturesand alliances. - 2 (4)
Interest expense. ......... ..... ...... ... 18 13 17
Other (income) expense, net. (24) 6 -
Restructuring charges. - 118
Earnings before income taxes 214 177 294
Provision (credit) forincometaxes.. 54 (47) 41
Net earnings $ 160 $ 224 $ 253

Earnings pershare. $ 4.01 $ 5.52 $ 6.11

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Millions, except pershareamounts December 31,1996 1995

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents. $ 108 $ 60
Receivables 669 597
Inventories. 587 513
Other current assets. 189 218

1,553 1,388

Investments and other assets:
Investments in joint ventures and alliances. 207 211
Otherassets. 119 115

326 326
Property, plant and equipment:

Landand buildings 460 436
Machinery, equipment and fixtures .. 1,931 1,875
Construction in process.. 270 164

2,661 2,475
Less accumulated depreciation 1,375 1,327

1,286 1,148

Intangibles, deferred taxes and deferred charges 204 194

Total assets $3,369 $3,056

Liabilities and shareholders' investment
Current liabilities:

Loans payable.. $ 93 $ 60
Current maturities of long-term debt . 39 42
Accounts payable... 380 376
Accrued salaries and wages.............. 84 85
Accrued product coverage and marketing expenses . 126 152
Incometaxes payable 16 30
Other accrued expenses. 283 308

1,021 1,053

Long-term debt 283 117

Other liabilities 753 703

Shareholders' investment:
Common stock, $2.50 par value, 43.9 shares issued 110 110
Additional contributed capital 929 926
Retained earnings. 535 406
Common stock in treasury, at cost, 4.5 and 3.7 shares .. (169) (135)
Unearned compensation... (46) (51)
Cumulative translation adjustments . (47) (73)

1,312 1,183

Total liabilities and shareholders' investment $3,369 $3,056

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of this statement.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Millions 1996 1995 1994

Cash flows from operating activities:
Netearnings. ..... $ 160 $ 224 $ 253
Adjustments to reconcile netearningsto

net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . 149 143 128
Restructuring actions. ... (42) 114 -
Accounts receivable. (56) (91) (37)
Inventories. ...... .... (62) 3 (46)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 28 99 69
Deferred incometaxes 17 (100) (7)
Other. (1) 14 16
Total adjustments.. 33 182 123

Net cash provided by operating activities 193 406 376

Cash flows from investing activities:
Property, plantand equipment:

Additions . (304) (223) (238)
Disposals . 26 6 5

Investments in joint ventures and alliances. (5) (147) (9)
Other. 24 (9) (19)
Net cash used in investing activities (259) (373) (261)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating
and investing activities (66) 33 115

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings. 200 2 -
Payments on borrowings . (47) (37) (34)
Net borrowings under credit agreements . 32 19 17
Repurchases of common stock (34) (69) (5)
Dividend payments.. (40) (40) (26)
Other..... ............ .... ........... (1) 4 (2)
Net cash provided from (used for)

financing activities . 110 (121) (50)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 4 1 5

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 48 (87) 70
Cash andcash equivalents atbeginningof year... 60 147 77
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 108 $ 60 $ 147

Cash payments during the year for:
Interest. $ 16 $ 13 $ 19
Income taxes 40 59 43

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Investment
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Millions, except per share amounts 1996 1995 1994

Convertible preference stock, no par value,
1.0 shares authorized:

Beginning balance (.2 shares). $ - $ - $ 112
Converted to common stock or

redeemed (.2 shares).. - - (112)
Ending balance. - - -

Common stock, $2.50 par value, 150.0 shares
authorized:

Beginning balance (43.9,43.8 and 40.6 shares) 110 109 101
Conversion of preference stock and

debt (2.9 shares).. - - 7
Other(.1 and .3 shares).. - 1 1
Ending balance (43.9,43.9 and 43.8 shares) 110 110 109

Additional contributed capital:
Beginning balance. 926 927 823
Conversion of preference stock and debt.. - - 104
Other..... 3 (1) -
Ending balance. 929 926 927

Retained earnings:
Beginning balance. 406 232 4
Net earnings for the year.. 160 224 253
Cash dividends declared . (40) (40) (26)
Additional minimum liability for pensions 9 (10) 1
Ending balance 535 406 232

Common stock in treasury:
Beginning balance (3.7,2.2 and 2.1 shares) . (135) (72) (67)
Stock repurchased (.8,1.6 and .1 shares) (34) (69) (5)
Stockissued(.1 shares).. .............. ... - 6 -
Ending balance (4.5,3.7 and 2.2 shares). (169) (135) (72)

Unearned compensation:
Beginning balance. (51) (55) (59)
Shares allocated to participants.. 5 4 4
Ending balance. (46) (51) (55)

Cumulative translation adjustments:
Beginning balance . (73) (69) (93)
Adjustments . 26 (4) 24
Ending balance. (47) (73) (69)

Shareholders' investment $1,312 $1,183 $1,072

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Note 1. Summary of Significant Research and Development: Expend-
Accounting Policies: itures for research and development of new

products, as well as engineering expendi-
Principles of Consolidation: The consoli- tures during early production and ongoing
dated financial statements include the efforts to improve existing products, are
accounts of Cummins Engine Company, Inc., charged to earnings as incurred, net of con-
and its majority-owned subsidiaries. tract reimbursements. Research and devel-
Affiliated companies in which Cummins opment costs approximated $235 million
does not have a controlling interest are in 1996,$230 million in 1995 and $200 million
accounted for using the equity method. in 1994.

The statements and notes have been pre- Cash Equivalents: Cash equivalents are
pared in conformity with generally accepted investments that are readily convertible to
accounting principles and include some known amounts of cash and have original
amounts which are estimates based upon maturities of three months or less.
currently available information and manage-
ment's judgment of current conditions and Inventories: The company accounts for
circumstances. approximately 25 percent of its inventories

using the last-in, first-out CLIFO) cost method.
Revenue Recognition: The company rec- These LIFO inventories include substantially
ognizes revenues on the sale of its products, all of the Company's U.S. heavy-duty and
net of estimated costs of returns, allowances high-horsepower engine and engine parts
and sales incentives, when the products are inventories. All other inventories are valued
shipped to customers. at the lower of first-in, first-out (FIFO) cost or

net realizable value.
Product Coverage Programs: Estimated

Dollars in millions December 31,1996 1995costs of commitments for product coverage -
Finished products $334 $283programs are charged to earnings at the
Work-in-process and rawtime the company sells its products. materials 319 292
Inventories at FIFO cost 653 575Foreign Currency: The company uses the Excess of FIFO over LIFO (66) (62)

local currency as the functional currency for Inventories.. $587 $513
its manufacturing operations outside the
United States, except those in Brazil and Property, Plant and Equipment: The
Mexico for which it uses the U.S. dollar. At company depreciates substantially all
operations which use the local currency as engine production equipment using a modi-
the functional currency, results are trans- fied units-of-production method, which is
lated into U.S. dollars using average based upon units produced subject to a min-
exchange rates for the year, while assets and imum level. Depreciation of all other equip-
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars ment is computed using the straight-line
using year-end exchange rates. The result- method for financial reporting purposes.
ing translation adjustments are recorded as The estimated service lives to compute
a separate component of shareholders' depreciation range from 20 to 40 years for
investment; gains and losses from foreign buildings and 3 to 20 years for machinery,
currency transactions are included in net equipment and fixtures. Where appropriate,
earnings. At the Company's operations in the company uses accelerated depreciation
Brazil and Mexico, cash and certain other methods for tax purposes. Maintenance and
monetary assets and liabilities (such as repair costs are charged to earnings as
receivables and payables) and revenues and incurred.
expenses are translated into U.S. dollars
using current exchange rates. Inventories
and nonmonetary assets, such as fixed
assets, are translated into U.S. dollars using
historical exchange rates. The resulting
translation adjustments and gains and
losses from foreign currency transactions
are reflected in net earnings.
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Earnings Per Share: Primary earnings per Note 4. Investments in Joint Ventures
share are computed by subtracting prefer- and Alliances:
ence stock dividend requirements from net

Dollarsin millions December 31,1996 1996earnings and dividing that amount by the
weighted-average number of common Cummins Wartsila .. $ 59 $ 31

Consolidated Diesel 38 96shares outstanding during each year. Fully
KirloskarCummins 36 27diluted earnings per share are computed by Chongqing Cummins. 16 15dividing net earnings by the weighted- Tata Cummins . 13 13

average number of shares outstanding, BehrAmerica . 12 12
assuming the exercise of stock options and Cummins Komatsu. 9 3
the conversion of debt and preference stock Other.. .... 24 14
to common stock. Carrying value $207 $211

Note 2. Restructuring Charges: Results Summary financial information forthese
of operations in 1995 included restructuring 50-percent or less owned joint ventures and
charges of $118 million ($77 million after alliances:
taxes) for costs to reduce the worldwide

Dollarsin millions 1996 1995 1994work force through a series of actions,
Netsales.. $1,328 $1,091 $914including voluntary and involuntary separa-
Earnings...... 2 6 15tions, retirements and plant consolidations. Cummins'share, - (2) 4Facility consolidations included closing or

restructuring selected operations in Europe, Dollarsin millions December 31, 1996 1995
Brazil and North America. The components Current assets . $ 458 $ 330
of the restructuring charges were: Noncurrentassets ... 478 340

Current liabilities.. (305) (231)
Dollarsin millions (248) (63)Noncurrent liabilities..
Work force reductions $ 82 Net assets. ..$383 $ 376
Asset write downs . 32 Cummins' share . $ 207 $211
Other.. 4
Total. %12 In connection with various joint venture

agreements, the company is required to pur-
Estimated costs for work force reductions chase engine products in amounts to pro-were based on amounts pursuant to benefit vide for the recovery of specified costs ofprograms and contractual provisions or statu- the joint venture. Under the agreement withtory requirements at the affected operations. Consolidated Diesel, Cummins' purchases
Approximately $53 million has been charged approximated $540 million in 1996 and 1995,
to the liabilities as of December 31, 1996. with future minimum purchases of $6 mil-

lion in 1997 and 1998, $9 million in 1999,
Note 3. Operating Leases: Certain of the $10 million in 2000 and 2001 and $85 million
company's manufacturing plants, ware- thereafter. The company's carrying value of
houses and offices are leased facilities. The Consolidated Diesel at December 31,1995company also leases manufacturing and included temporary financing of $50 million
office equipment. Most of these leases re- that was repaid to Cummins in 1996.quire fixed rental payments, expire over the
next ten years and can be renewed or re-
placed with similar leases. Rental expense
under these leases approximated $55 million
in each of the last three years. Future mini-
mum payments for leases with original terms
of more than one year are $32 million in
1997, $28 million in 1998, $22 million in 1999,
$18 million in 2000, $15 million in 2001 and
$59 million thereafter.0
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Note 5. Long-Term Debt: Trust and the company's compensation
expense approximated $10 million in each

Dollarsin millions December 31, 1996 1995 year. The unearned compensation, which is
8.2% notes, due 2003 $108 $ - reflected as a reduction to shareholders'
Commercial paper 90 - investment, represents the historical cost
10.35%-10.65% medium- of the ESOP Trust's shares of commonterm notes, through 1998 35 73 stock that have not yet been allocated toGuaranteed notes of

ESOPTrust, due 1998.. 67 68 participants.

Other............ 22 18
Total indebtedness.. 322 159 In February 1997, the company issued
Less current maturities 39 42 $120 million of 6.75 percent debentures that
Long-term debt $283 $117 mature in 2027. Holders have a one-time

option in 2007 to redeem the debentures.
Aggregate maturities of long-term debt for The company also has a recall right after

10 years.the five years subsequent to December 31,
1996 are $39 million, $101 million, $19 mil-

Note 6. Other Liabilities:lion, $18 million and $20 million. At
December 31,1996 and 1995, the weighted- Dollarsin millions December 31,1996 1995
average interest rate on loans payable and Accrued retirement and post-current maturities of long-term debt was employment benefits $530 $533
7 percent and 8 percent, respectively. Accrued product coverage

and marketing expenses . 112 86
In 1996, a subsidiary of the company issued Deferred taxes.. 28 21
8.2 percent notes, which resulted in net pro- Accrued compensation 28 21
ceeds of $100 million. Other. 55 42

Other liabilities . $753 $703
The company maintains a revolving credit
agreement, under which there were no out- Note 7. Income Taxes:
standing borrowings at December 31,1996
or 1995. In 1996, the agreement was Dollars in millions 1996 1995 1994

amended, increasing the available amount Current:
from $300 million to $400 million and U.S. Federal and state. .$22 $ 30 $29
extending the term to 2001. The revolving Foreign.. 15 23 19

37 53 48credit agreement supported commercial
Deferred:paper borrowings at December 31, 1996.
U.S. Federal and state.. - (93) (9)The commercial paper initially was issued as Foreign.. 17 (7) 2

replacement financing for an arrangement 17 MOO)
whereby the company sold up to $110 mil- Tax provision (credit) . . $54 $ (47) %11lion receivables without recourse. The agree-
ment for the sale of receivables expired in The company expects to realize all of its tax
the second quarter of 1996 and was not assets, including the use of all carryforwards
renewed by the company. The company also before any expiration. A valuation allowance
maintains other domestic and international previously maintained against tax carry-
credit lines with approximately $90 million forward benefits was released to earnings as
available at December 31, 1996. a reduction of income tax expense in the

amount of $68 million in 1995 and $32 mil-
The company has guaranteed the outstand- lion in 1994. Tax benefits of $35 million also
ing borrowings of its ESOP Trust. Cash con- were recorded as a reduction to income tax
tributions to the Trust, together with the expense in 1995 for changes in the treat-
dividends accumulated on the common ment of foreign tax credits and foreign sales
stock held by the Trust, are used to pay inter- corporation benefits for prior years.
est and principal due on the notes. Cash
contributions and dividends to the ESOP
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Significant components of the company's Note 8. Retirement Plans: The company
net deferred tax assets relate to the follow- has various contributory and noncontribu-
ing tax effects of differences between finan- tory pension plans covering substantially all
cial and tax reporting: employees. Benefits for salaried plans gen-

erally are based upon annual compensation,
Dollars in millions December 31,1996 1995 and benefits under the hourly plans gen-
U.S. accrued employee benefits . $ 247 $ 236 erally are based upon various monthly
U.S. accrued product coverage amounts for each year of service. The com-

and marketing expenses 72 73 pany has a non-qualified excess benefit plan
Restructuring charges 10 25 that provides certain employees with defined
U.S. plantandequipment. (125) (124)
Other net U.S. differences 21 7 retirement benefits in excess of qualified

Net foreign taxable differences, plan limits imposed by U.S. tax law. In addi-
primarily plantand equipment.. (23) m tion, the company has a plan that provides

U.S. Federal carryforward benefits: officers and other key employees with term
General businesstax credits, life insurance during active employment and

expiring 2000 to 2010 . 45 58 supplemental retirement benefits.
Minimum tax credits, no

expiration. ... 9 11 Dollarsin millions December 31,1996 1995

Net deferred tax assets . $ 256 $ 279 Benefit obligation:
Vested . .$(1,286) $(1.139)Balance sheet classification - -
Accumulated . .$(1,410) $(1,332)

Current assets . .$131 $164
Noncurrent assets 153 136 Projected. .$(1,491) $(1,467)

Plan assets . 1,555 1,367
Noncurrent liabilities (28) (21) - --- Funded status . 64 CIOO)Net deferred tax assets . .$256 $279

== == Unrecognized:
Experiencegain .. (114) (26)Earnings before income taxes and differ-
Prior service cost . 70 106

ences between the effective tax rate and Transition asset . (21) (29)
U.S. Federal income tax rates were: Additional liability.. (35) (63)

Accrued liability.. . $ (36) $ (112)Dollarsin millions 1996 1995 1994 - -

Earnings before income The projected benefit obligation for under-
taxes: funded plans was $694 million at Decem-

U.S. . .$134 $135 $181 ber 31,1996 and $688 million at December 31,
International 80 42 113$214 $177 $294 1995, of which $109 million and $168 mil-

- - == lion, respectively, was recorded as a liability.
Tax at 35 percent U.S.

statutory rate . . $ 75 $ 62 $103 The projected benefit obligation for the
Adjustmentto company's principal plans was determined

beginning-of-year using a weighted-average discount rate of
valuation allowance. - (68) (32) 7.75 percent in 1996 and 7 percent in 1995.

Change intreatment of for- The long-term rate of return on assets was
eign tax credit and foreign assumed to be 9.25 percent in 1996 and
sales corporation benefits 10 percent in 1995. The assumed long-term
of prior years - (35) - rate of compensation increase for salaried

Research tax credits...... (63 (6) (9) plans approximated expected inflation in
Current-year foreign sales both 1996 and 1995.corporation benefits... (11) (5) -
Differences in rates and

taxability of foreign
subsidiaries. - - (18)

All other, net . (4) 5 (3)
Tax provision (credit).. . $ 54 $ (47) $ 41a
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Note 8. (continued) The weighted-average discount rate used to
It is the company's policy to make contribu- determine the accumulated benefit obliga-
tions to plans sufficient to meet the funding tion was 7.75 percent in 1996 and 7 percent
requirements of applicable laws and regula- in 1995. The weighted-average trend rate for
tions, plus such additional amounts as medical benefits was 8.9 percent, grading
deemed to be appropriate. Plan assets con- down to an ultimate rate of 5.5 percent by
sisted principally of equity securities and 2006. The health care cost trend rate as-
corporate and fixed-income Government sumption could have a significant effect on
obligations. Cummins common stock repre- the determination of the obligation. For
sented 6 percent of plan assets at Decem- example, increasing the rate by one percent
ber 31,1996. would increase the accumulated benefit

obligation by $31 million and net cost by
Dollarsin millions 1996 1995 1994 $3 million.
Service cost .$ 45 $ 40 $ 42
Interest cost 104 99 89 Note 9. Common Stock Repurchases:Asset return: In 1994, the Board of Directors authorizedActual. (155) (214) (26) repurchase by the company of up to 2.5 mil-Deferred 39 110 (79)

lion shares of its common stock. DuringTransition asset
amortization (9) (9) (9) 1996, the company completed this program

Other. 16 14 12 with the repurchase of .8 million shares of
Pension cost. .. $ 40 $ 40 $ 29 stock on the open market at an aggregate

purchase price of $34 million, or average
While the company provides certain health price of $41.35 per share. The company
care and life insurance benefits to eligible repurchased 1.6 million shares at an aggre-
retirees and their dependents, it reserves the gate purchase price of $69 million, or aver-
right to change benefits covered under these age price of $43.57 per share, in 1995 and
plans. The plans are contributory, with re- .1 million shares at an aggregate purchase
tirees' contributions adjusted annually, and price of $5 million, or average price of
contain other cost-sharing features, such as $42.47 per share, in 1994. All of the acquired
deductibles, coinsurance and spousal contri- shares are held as common stock in treasury.
butions. The general policy is to fund bene-
fits as claims and premiums are incurred. In January 1997, the company announced

that it will issue 3.75 million shares of itsDollarsin millions 1996 1995 1994 common stock to an employee benefits trustService cost $9 $8 $10 to fund obligations of employee benefit andInterest cost 36 38 33 compensation plans, principally retirementOther.......... 10 7 10
Total health care costs. $55 $65 *65 savings plans. Shares of the common stock

== == == held by this trust will not be used in the
Dollarsin millions December 31,1996 1995 calculation of the company's earnings per

share until distributed from the trust andObligation for:
allocated to a benefit plan. The companyRetirees.............. ... $273 $238

Employees eligibleto retire.. 145 125 also announced in January 1997 repurchase
Others........ 127 163 of 1.3 million shares of its common stock

Unrecognized: from Ford Motor Company and that the
Prior service cost.. 4 (10) Board of Directors has authorized the repur-
Experience loss.. (38) (40) chase of an additional 1.7 million shares in

Accrued liability. $511 $476 the open market.
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Note 10. Segments of the Business: The company operates in a single industry seg-
ment-designing, manufacturing and marketing diesel engines and related products. The
company's key markets for engines are automotive (heavy-duty trucks, midrange trucks, bus
and light commercial vehicles), power generation and industrial. Manufacturing, marketing
and technical operations are maintained in major areas of the world. Summary financial
information is listed below for each geographic area. Earnings for each area may not be a
meaningful representation of each area's contribution to consolidated operating results
because of significant sales of products between and among the company's various domes-
tic and international operations.

All Corporate
Dollars in millions U.S. Europe Other Items Combined

1996
Net sales:

To customers in the area $2,904 $ 770 $619 $- $4,293
To customers outside the area 581 363 20 - 964
Intergeographictransfers 415 180 129 (724) -
Total. $3,900 $1,313 $768 $(724) $5,257

Earnings before income taxes $ 111 $ 75 $22 $6 $ 214
Identifiable assets $2,069 $ 624 $517 $ 159 $3,369

1995
Net sales:

To customers in the area $3,010 $ 772 $524 $- $4,306
To customers outside the area . 587 342 10 - 939
Intergeographic transfers 367 186 126 (679) -
Total. $3,964 $1,300 $660 $(679) $5,245

Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ 178 $ 113 $ 24 $(138) $ 177
Identifiable assets . $1,853 $ 598 $483 $ 122 $3,056

1994
Net sales:

To customers in the area $2,708 $ 657 $538 $- $3,903
To customers outside the area . 594 234 6 - 834
Intergeographictransfers 410 159 114 (683) -
Total $3,712 $1,050 $658 $(683) $4,737

Earnings (loss) before incometaxes . $ 177 $ 87 $ 44 $ (14) $ 294
Identifiable assets . $1,618 $ 499 $412 $ 177 $2,706

Total sales for each geographic area are clas- The company generally sells its products on
sified by manufacturing source and include open account under credit terms customary
sales to customers within and outside the to the region of distribution. The company
area and intergeographic transfers. Transfer performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
prices for sales between the company's vari- customers and generally does not require
ous operating units generally are at arm's collateral to secure its customers' receivables.
length, based upon business conditions, dis-
tribution costs and other costs which are Net sales by marketing territory:
expected to be incurred in producing and

Dollarsin millions 1996 1995 1994marketing products. Corporate items include
interest and other income and expense. United States . .... .$2,925 $3,018 $2,712

Asia, Far East andIdentifiable assets are those resources asso-
Australia . 868 723 626ciated with the operations in each area.

Europe. 759 783 671
Corporate assets are principally cash and Canada. 313 384 330
investments. Mexico and South

America. 260 233 318
Africa and Middle East.. 132 104 80
Net sales. . $5,257 $5,245 $4,737
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Note 11. Shareholders' Rights Plan: Note 12. Employee Stock Plans: Under
The company has a Shareholders' Rights the company's stock incentive and option
Plan which it first adopted in 1986. The plans, officers and other eligible employees
Rights Plan provides that each share of the may be awarded stock options, stock appre-
company's common stock has associated ciation rights and restricted stock. Under the
with it a stock purchase right. The Rights provisions of the stock incentive plan, up to
Plan becomes operative when a person or one percent of the company's outstanding
entity acquires 15 percent of the company's shares of common stock at the end of the
common stock or commences a tender offer preceding year is available for issuance
to purchase 20 percent or more of the com- underthe plan each year. At December 31,
pany's common stock without the approval 1996, there were 174,741 shares of common
of the Board of Directors. In the event a per- stock available for grant and 792,075 options
son or entity acquires 15 percent of the com- exercisable under the plans.
pany's common stock, each right, except for Number of Weighted-averagethe acquiring person's rights, can be exer- Options Shares Exercise Price
cised to purchase $400 worth of common Dec. 31,1993.. 525,070 $32.54
stock for $200. Granted . 349,927 43.05

Exercised .. (10,200) 27.44
In addition, for a period of 10 days after Dec. 31,1994.. 864,797 37.49
such acquisition, the Board of Directors can Gra nted... 360,625 39.98

Exercised . (22,520) 30.83exchange such right for a new right which
Cancelled.. (19,627) 41.03permits the holders to purchase one share

Dec. 31,1995. 1,183,275 38.45of the company's common stock for $1 per Granted ... 394,150 40.13share. If a person or entity commences a Exercised (47,475) 32.43tender offer to purchase 20 percent or more Cancelled.. (19,800) 41.00of the company's common stock, unless the Dec. 31,1996. 1,510,150 38.88
Board of Directors redeems the rights within
10 days of the event, each right can be exer- Options outstanding at December 31, 1996
cised to purchase one share for $200. have exercise prices between $15.94 and

$53.25 and a weighted-average remaining
The plan also allows holders of the rights to life of 5 years. The weighted-average fair
purchase shares of the acquiring person's value of options granted was $11.36 per
stock at a discount if the company is acquired share in 1996 and $10.41 per share in 1995.
or 50 percent of the assets or earnings The fair value of each option was estimated
power of the company is transferred to an on the date of grant using a risk-free interest
acquiring person. rate of 6.7 percent in 1996 and 5.7 percent in

1995, current annual dividends, expected
lives of 10 years and expected volatility of
27 percent. If the company had used a fair-
value method of accounting for awards sub-
sequent to January 1,1995, net earnings
would have been reduced less than $2 mil-
lion in 1996.
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Note 13. Guarantees, Commitments Commodity swap contracts at December 31,
and other Contingencies: Accounts 1996 amounted to $35 million and have the
receivable that have been sold with recourse effect of fixing the company's cost of certain
amounted to $25 million at December 31, future material purchases. These contracts
1996. Commitments under outstanding let- mature through 1998. Gains or losses on the
ters of credit, guarantees and contingencies contracts are reflected in earnings concur
approximated $185 million. Based on bor- rently with the hedged items.
rowing rates currently available to the com-
pany for bank loans with similarterms and Cummins and its subsidiaries are defen-
average maturities, the fair value of total in- dants in a number of pending legal actions,
debtedness of $322 million at December 31, including actions related to use and perfor-
1996 was approximately $335 million. The mance of the company's products. The com-
carrying values of all other receivables and pany carries product liability insurance
liabilities approximated fair values at covering significant claims for damages
December 31,1996. involving personal injury and property dam-

age. In the event the company is determined
The company enters into forward exchange to be liable for damages in connection with
contracts to hedge the effects of fluctuating such actions and proceedings, the unre-
currency rates on certain assets and liabili- served and uninsured portion of such
ties, such as accounts receivable and liability is not expected to be material. The
payable, that are denominated in other than company also has been identified as a
the functional currencies of entities. The potentially responsible party at several waste
contracts typically provide for the exchange disposal sites under U.S. and related state
of different currencies at specified future environmental statutes and regulations.
dates and rates. The gain or loss due to the The company denies liability with respect
difference between the forward exchange to many of these legal actions and environ-
rates of the contracts and current rates off- mental proceedings and vigorously is de-
sets in whole or in part the loss or gain on fending such actions or proceedings. The
the assets or liabilities being hedged. The company has established reserves which it
company had $214 million of contracts out- believes are adequate for its expected future
standing at December 31,1996, which liability in such actions and proceedings
mature in 1997 and are denominated in a where the nature and extent of such liability
variety of foreign currencies where the com- can be estimated reasonably based upon
pany does business. presently available information.

Note 14. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited):

First Second Third Fourth Full
Dollars in millions, except per share amounts Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

1996
Net sa les ... $1,316 $1,316 $1,264 $1,361 $5,257
Gross profit 316 300 270 299 1,185
Netearnings .... 49 44 26 41 160
Earnings pershare.. $ 1.21 $ 1.10 $ .67 $ 1.03 $ 4.01

1995
Net sales . $1,334 $1,361 $1,219 $1,331 $5,245
Gross profit 343 340 277 311 1,271
Net earnings . 67 69 46 42 224
Earnings pershare. $ 1.63 $ 1.69 $ 1.14 $ 1.05 $ 5.52

Included in netearningsinthe fourth quarter of 1995 was a restructuringcharge of $116 million ($76 million aftertaxes).
There also was a tax credit of $68 million. Net earnings for 1995 included restructuring charges of $118 million ($77 million
aftertaxes).
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Management's Responsibility for Report of Independent Public
Financial Statements Accountants

Management is responsible for the prepa- To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
ration of the company's consolidated finan- of Cummins Engine Company, Inc.:
cial statements and all related information
appearing in this report. The statements We have audited the accompanying con-
and notes have been prepared in confor- solidated statement of financial position
mity with generally accepted accounting of Cummins Engine Company, Inc., (an
principles and include some amounts which Indiana corporation) and subsidiaries as
are estimates based upon currently avail- of December 31,1996 and 1995, and the
able information and management's related consolidated statements of earn-
judgment of current conditions and cir- ings, cash flows and shareholders' invest-
cumstances. The company engaged ment for each of the three years in the
Arthur Andersen LLP, independent public period ended December 31,1996. These
accountants, to examine the consolidated financial statements are the responsibility
financial statements. Their report appears of the company's management. Our respon-
on this page. sibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements based on our audits.
To provide reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded against loss from We conducted our audits in accordance
unauthorized use or disposition and that with generally accepted auditing stan-
accounting records are reliable for prepar- dards. Those standards require that we
ing financial statements, management plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
maintains a system of accounting and con- sonable assurance about whether the
trols, including an internal audit program. financial statements are free of material
The system of accounting and controls is misstatement. An audit includes examin-
improved and modified in response to ing, on a test basis, evidence supporting
changes in business conditions and opera- the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
tions and recommendations made by the cial statements. An audit also includes
independent public accountants and the assessing the accounting principles used
internal auditors. and significant estimates made by man-

agement, as well as evaluating the overall
The Board of Directors has an Audit Com- financial statement presentation. We
mittee whose members are not employees believe that our audits provide a reason-
of the company. The committee met four able basis for ouropinion.
times in 1996 with management, internal
auditors and representatives of the com- In our opinion, the financial statements
pany's independent public accountants to referred to above present fairly, in all ma-
review the company's program of internal terial respects, the financial position of
controls, audit plans and results, and the Cummins Engine Company, Inc., and sub-
recommendations of the internal and sidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and
external auditors and management's 1995, and the results of their operations
responses to those recommendations. and their cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31,
1996, in conformity with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles.

hALM A.64 1_  1_P
Chicago, Illinois,
January 27, 1997.
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Summary of Consolidated Financial Information
Cummins Engine Company, Inc.

Dollarsin millions, except pershareamounts 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

Results of operations:
Net sales $5,257 $5,245 $4,737 $4,248 $3,749
Cost of goods sold. 4,072 3,974 3,551 3,211 2,907
Gross profit ..... .. 1,185 1,271 1,186 1,037 842
Selling, administrative, research and

engineering expenses. 977 955 879 789 712
Interest expense ...... ... 18 13 17 36 41
Other, net. (24) 8 (4) 7 13
Restructuring charges 118 - - -
Earnings before income taxes 214 177 294 205 76
Provision (credit) for income taxes. 54 (47) 41 22 9
Earnings before extraordinary items and

cumulative effect of accounting changes. 160 224 253 183 67
Extraordinary items. ,,,. - - - (6) (6)
Cumulative effect ofaccounting changes. ---- (251)
Net earnings (loss) 160 224 253 177 (190)
Preference stock dividends. - - - 8 8
Earnings (loss) available for common shares.. . $ 160 $ 224 $ 253 $ 169 $ (198)

Percommon share:
Earnings before extraordinary items and

cumulative effect of accounting changes:
Primary.. ..... . $ 4.01 $ 5.52 $ 6.11 $ 4.95 $ 1.77
Fullydiluted. 4.01 5.52 6.11 4.77 1.77

Net earnings (loss)
Primary.. 4.01 5.52 6.11 4.79 (6.01)
Fullydiluted, ...... 4.01 5.52 6.11 4.63 (6.01)

Cash dividends..,..... ..... 1.00 1.00 .625 .20 .10
Common shareholders' investment 33.24 29.39 25.79 18.40 11.21

Average numberof common shares (millions):
Primary. ..... 39.8 40.7 41.4 35.3 32.9
Fully diluted 39.8 40.7 41.4 38.3 32.9

Operating percentages:
Gross profit . .., 22.5% 24.2% 25.0% 24.4% 22.5%
Return on net sales 3.0 4.3 5.3 4.2 (5.0)

Financial data:
Working capital. $ 532 $ 335 $ 458 $ 371 $ 271
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,286 1,148 1,090 958 929
Totalassets .... 3,369 3,056 2,706 2,390 2,230
Long-term debt...... 283 117 155 190 412
Shareholders' investment 1,312 1,183 1,072 821 501

Supplemental data:
Property, plant and equipment expenditures $ 304 $ 223 $ 238 $ 174 $ 139
Depreciation and amortization.. 149 143 128 125 123

Common shareholders of record..... ...... 4,800 5,000 4,800 4,400 4,800
Number of employees . 23,500 24,300 25,600 23,600 23,400

The extraordinary charges in 1993 and 1992 related to the early extinguishment of debt.

Effective January 1,1992, the company adopted changes in accounting for retirees' health care, income taxes and postemployment
benefits per SFAS Nos. 106,109 and 112.
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Directors and Committees

Directors
1 James A. Henderson Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cummins
2 Theodore M. Solso President and Chief Operating Officer of Cummins
3 Harold Brown Counselor, Center for Strategic & International Studies; Partner,

Warburg, Pincus & Co., venture banking firm
4 Robert J. Darnall Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Inland Steel

Industries, Inc., steel manufacturing and materials distribution
5 Walter Y. Elisha Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Springs Industries, Inc.,

manufacturer of home furnishings, industrial and specialty
fabrics

6 Hanna H. Gray President Emeritus and Professor of History, University of
Chicago

7 William I. Miller Chairman, Irwin Financial Corporation, financial services
company

8 Donald S. Perkins Retired Chairman, Jewel Companies, Inc., diversified retailing
9 William D. Ruckelshaus Principal, Madrona Investment Group, LLC.

10 Henry B. Schacht Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Lucent Technologies,
Inc., communication industry products

11 Franklin A. Thomas Consultant, TFF Study Group, non-profit initiative to assist the
development process in South Africa

12 J. Lawrence Wilson Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Rohm and Haas
Company, chemicals and plastics manufacturing

J. Irwin Miller Honorary Chairman

Committees of the Board
Audit Committee: Chairman Donald Perkins, Hanna Gray and William Ruckelshaus
Business Development and Finance Committee: Chairman Lawrence Wilson, Walter Elisha and
Henry Schacht
Compensation Committee: Chairman Hanna Gray, Harold Brown, Donald Perkins,
William Ruckelshaus and Franklin Thomas
Employee Development and Benefits Committee: Chairman Robert Darnall, William Miller and
Franklin Thomas
Executive Committee: Chairman James Henderson, William Miller and Theodore Solso
Nominating and Organization Committee: Chairman Franklin Thomas, Harold Brown, Robert Darnall,
Walter Elisha, Hanna Gray, William Miller, Donald Perkins, William Ruckelshaus, Henry Schacht and
Lawrence Wilson
Proxy Committee: Chairman Henry Schacht and Franklin Thomas
Technology Committee: Chairman Harold Brown and Theodore Solso

Officers

Corporate Management
James A. Henderson Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Theodore M. Solso President and Chief Operating Officer

Corporate Support
Kiran M. Patel Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Mark E. Chesnut Vice President-Public Policy
Wayne H. Draeger Vice President-Financial Administration
George Fauerbach Vice President-Business Development
Mark R. Gerstle Vice President-Law and Corporate Affairs, and Secretary

-iLlllli FifIE. John McLachlan Vice President-Corporate Controller (retirement April 1, 1997)
-21-_~ Rick J. Mills Vice President-Corporate Controller

~Il,"Ill~ Brenda S. Pitts Vice President-Human Resources
John A. Swaim Vice President-Quality
Donald W. Trapp Vice President-Treasurer
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Officers and Executives

Automotive Group
C. Roberto Cordaro Executive Vice President, Group President-Automotive
Martha E Brooks Vice President-Worldwide Marketing for Medium-Duty and Heavy-Duty Trucks
Charles J. Bumb Vice President-National Accounts
Keith E. Chambers Vice President-Heavy-Duty Engine Program
Dale F. Good Vice President-North American Sales and Service
Jeffrey D. Jones Vice President-Automotive Fleet Sales and Service
James D. Kelly Vice President-Worldwide Operations, Automotive Business
Peter V. McDowell Vice President-European Automotive Business
John H. Stang Vice President-Automotive Engineering
Christine M. Vujovich Vice President-Worldwide Marketing for Bus and Light Commercial Automotive,

and Environmental Management

Power Generation Group
John K. Edwards Executive Vice President, Group President-Power Generation
Samuel D. Hires Vice President-High-Horsepower Engineering
Jerome E. Johnson General Manager-Power Generation Americas
Michael F. Mitchell Vice President-Power Generation Operations
Kenneth G. Sanford Vice President-Power Generation, Asia Pacific
Steven L. Zeller Vice President and Managing Director-Newage International Ltd.

Industrial Group
F Joseph Loughrey Executive Vice President, Group President-Industrial
lain M. Barrowman President-Cummins Wartsila Engine Company
Frank J. McDonald Vice President-Worldwide Midrange Operations
Bryan W Swank Vice President-Advanced Midrange Engine Program
Bharat S. Vedak Vice President-Industrial Business Marketing
William H. Wolpert General Manager-Worldwide Marine Business

Filtration Group
M. David Jones Vice President-Filtration Group and President, Fleetguard, Inc.

North America
Gottfried Muench Vice President-Distribution, Customer Support and Aftermarket
Richard M. Gold General Manager-Aftermarket Business
Robert J. Weimer Vice President-Customer Support

International
Mark A. Levett Vice President-International
Steven M. Chapman Vice President-China and Southeast Asia
J. Thompson Dewing Vice President and Managing Director-Central Area Business Organization
Lucas L. Godinez General Manager-Latin America
Michael Green Managing Director-South Pacific
Jong S. Kim Managing Director-Korea
Steven R Knaebel Vice President-Mexico
Ronald L. Moore Area Business Manager-India
Tony Satterthwaite Area Director-Southeast Asia
Hiroyuki Tajima Managing Director-Cummins North Asia

Technology and Operations Support
Russell J. Bunio Vice President-Worldwide Manufacturing Support and Chief Procurement Officer
Patrick R Flynn Vice President-Research
Wynne W. Gulden, J r. Vice President-Information Processes and Technology
H. Karl Kuehner Vice President-Fuel Systems
Michael J. Percy Vice President-Cummins Technical Center Operations (retirement April 1, 1997)
Richard B. Stoner, Jr. Group Vice President-Technology Businesses
Richard M. Sturgeon Vice President-Information Technology
James E. Sweetnam Vice President and Group Managing Director-Holset Engineering Company, Ltd.
Ronald H. Temple Vice President-Electronics
John C. Wall Vice President-Research and Development
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Cummins' Worldwide Locations
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BMC Sanayi veTicaret A.S.- 83.9 / 5.9 0 0 Engine Systems Ltd.* 85.9 ..
Izmir, Turkey C8 .3 Bin Qasim, Pakistan C8 .3

Chongqing Cummins NT ..0 Fleetguard, Inc. Specialty filtration 0
Engine Company Ltd .* K19 / 38 / 50 Nashville, Tennessee and lubricant analysis
Chongqing, China L10 / Mll ..*Jamestown Engine Plant L.10/Mll
Columbus Engine Plant N 14 / NT Jamestown, New York G- L10
Columbus, Indiana Kirloskar Cummins C8 .3 / NT / N 14 ...
Columbus Midrange 85.9 0 Limited* V28 / K's
Engine Plant Pune, India G- NT / N14 / G -K's
Columbus, Indiana Komatsu Cummins 83.9 ..
Consolidated Diesel 83.9 / 5.9 ..U Engine Company, Ltd.* 85.9
Company* C8 . 3 Oyama, Japan
Rocky Mount, Onan Corporation Generator sets, 0North Carolina Fridley, Minnesota electronic controls ,
Cummins Brasil Ltda . 83 .9 / 5 .9 / C8 .3 .. 4 Huntsville, Alabama & gasoline engines
Sao Paulo, Brazil NT / N 14 PT Perkasa Heavyndo** 83 . 9 ..
Cummins Industrial K19 Jakarta, Indonesia 85 .9
Center V903 SsangYong Heavy NT/N14 ..Seymour, Indiana QSK19 Industries Co ., Ltd .** K19
Cummins Komatsu OST30 0 Seoul, South Korea V903
Engine Co.* Tata Cummins Ltd.* 83.9 0Seymour, Indiana Jamshedpur, India 85 .9
Cummins Marine Marine product
Division development
Charleston, and upfit Cummins Technical
South Carolina Centers

Columbus, Indiana Research , technology,Cummins Natural Gas G-NT .. Fridley, Minnesota and engine and otherEngines, Inc. G-K19 Darlington, England product developmentFort Worth, Texas G-V28 Pune, IndiaClovis, New Mexico Sao Paulo, Brazil
Cummins Wartsila QSZ . & ComponentsEngine Co.* Atlas Inc. Crankshafts andMulhouse, France Fostoria, Ohio camshafts
Cummins Wartsila QSW Cummins S.A. Engine componentsEngine Co.* San Luis Potosi, Mexico and remanufactured enginesDaventry, England
- Diesel ReCon Company RemanufacturedDarlington Engine Plant 83.9 / 5.9 ..# Memphis, Tennessee engines and componentsDarlington, England C8.3

Fuel Systems Division Fuel system designDaventry Engine Plant K38 .* Columbus, Indiana and manufactureDaventry, England K50
Dongfeng Cummins C8.3 ... Holset Engineering Turbochargers

CompanyEngine Co. Ltd.* Huddersfield, EnglandXiangfan, Hubei, China

Dongfeng Motor 83.9/5.9 0 • International OfficesCorporation ./ A Parts Distribution CentersXiangfan, Hubei, China V Technical Centers
V Components
* Joint Venture
** Licensee
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Shareholder Information

Annual Meeting: Dividend Reinvestment:
Shareholders are invited to attend the As an added service to shareholders,
company's Annual Meeting on April 1, Cummins has established a Dividend
1997, at 10:30 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) Reinvestment Plan, administered by First
in Columbus, Indiana. The meeting will be Chicago Trust Company of New York. This
held in the Robbins Auditorium of plan gives common stock shareholders of
Columbus East High School. record the option of having their cash divi-

dends and optional cash payments applied
Form 10-K Annual Report: to the purchase of additional shares.
The company's 1996 filing with the Commission and other expenses of the
Securities and Exchange Commission on plan are paid by Cummins, so that partici-
Form 10-K contains the consolidated finan- pants' funds are used solely for the pur-
cial statements, notes and other related chase of additional shares.
financial information. If you wish a copy of
the Form 10-K, please write to: Shareholders wishing information

about this plan may call (800) 446-2617
Deb Miller (Mail Code 60915) or write to:
Director-Investor Relations
Cummins Engine Company, Inc. First Chicago Trust Company of New York
Box 3005 R O. Box 2598
Columbus, IN 47202-3005 Jersey City, NJ 07303-2598

Stock Transfer Agent, Registrar Exchange Listings:
and Dividend Disbursing Agent: The common stock of Cummins Engine
The First Chicago Trust Company of New Company, Inc., was listed on the New York
York is the company's common stock Stock Exchange in 1964 and the Pacific
transfer agent and registrar. The bank Stock Exchange in 1988. The stock is listed
maintains the company's shareholder underthe symbol CUM.
records and is responsible for disbursing
dividend checks. Changes of address and Cummins' Common Stock Price
questions should be addressed as follows: Price in dollars

65
General Shareholder Correspondence 60
First Chicago Trust Company of New York 55 1
R O. Box 2500 -

50
Jersey City, NJ 07303-2500 45 T .
Questions concerning transfers of stock 40

35ownership should be directed to the above
address at R O. Box 2506. Cummins' 30
Shareholder Representatives at the bank 25
may be called at (201) 324-0498. They 20
are available on the Internet at 11111111111111
http://www.fetc.com and for the hearing 1994 1995 1996

impaired at TDD @ (201) 222-4955.
Shareholder Inquiries:

Dividend Distribution: Shareholders desiring general information
Common stock dividends are payable about the company may write to Deb
quarterly, upon authorization of the Board Miller, Director-Investor Relations, at the
of Directors, on or about the fifteenth of above address, or call (812) 377-3121.
March, June, September and December. Quarterly results and other financial infor-

mation are available on Cummins' home
page on the Internet (http://www.
cummins.com) or may be requested
through debmiller@cob.cummins.com.
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